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TheMeaning of Palimpsest

In early times a palimpsest was a parchment or other
material from which one or more writings had been
erased to give room for later records. But the era-
sures were not always complete; and so it became the
fascinating task of scholars not only to translate the
later records but also to reconstruct the original writ-
Ings by deciphering the dim fragments of letters partly
erased and partly covered by subsequent texts.

The history of lowa may he likened to a palimpsest
which holds the record of successive generations.
To decipher these records of the past, reconstruct
them, and tell the stories which they contain is the
task of those who write history.
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In The Beginning—1847-1860

February 25, 1847! On this day the First Gen-
eral Assembly of the new State of lowa passed a
bill establishing the State University of lowa at
lowa City— only 59 days after lowa had become
a State. The bill was signed by Governor Ansel
Briggs the same day— the last day of the session.

This action took place in the Old Stone Capitol.
It marked the beginning of an institution which
has become a leader in education not only In lowa
but throughout the nation and the world.

The University of lowa took its roots from the
people themselves. From the outset, the lowa pi-
oneers had given evidence of their devotion to ed-
ucation by the establishment of schools and acad-
emies. This Act of the First General Assembly
was evidence of the people’s determination to have
an institution of higher learning.

The Act creating the University consisted of
thirteen sections one of which provided for a
Board of Trustees, fifteen in number, to control
and manage the University. The General Assem-
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bly elected fifteen trustees, but eight years passed
before the University opened its doors.

For seven years the Trustees had little to do ex-
cept to select the two sections (46,080 acres) of
public land donated by the Federal Government
for University support, and to provide for their
sale. Delay in the selection and sale of lands left
the Trustees without means of support, and the
delay In moving the capital to Des Moines left
them without a building for University purposes.

Before the University could get under way, the
Board of Trustees at a special meeting held Feb-
ruary 21, 1850, recognized the College of Physi-
cians and Surgeons of the Upper Mississippi—
an institution established at Davenport by certain
medical gentlemen— as the College of Physicians
of the State University of lowa. It was stipulated,
however, that such recognition should not render
the University liable for any pecuniary aid. nor
were the Trustees to acquire any control over the
property or management of the medical school.

Shortly thereafter, the school was removed from
Davenport to Keokuk, where the liberality of the
citizens enabled the faculty to erect a suitable
frame building for their use.

The General Assembly, by an Act of January
22, 1851, placed the institution under the supervi-
sion of the Board of Trustees of the University.
This arrangement continued until 1857 when its
connection with the University was terminated by



IN THE BEGINNING 35

the provision of the new Constitution fixing the
University at lowa City without branches.

At the sessions of the General Assembly from
1847 to 1857, lowa legislators, anxious to please
their constituents, attempted to secure a branch of
the University for their home town. The Act of
1847 permitted the establishment of such branches
as the public convenience might require.

By acts of the General Assembly in 1849 two
branches of the University, to be located at Fair-
field and Dubuque, and three Normal Schools to
be located at Andrew, Oskaloosa. and Mount
Pleasant, were created. These branches were
placed on equal footing with the University to be
established at lowa City, although each was to
have its own Board of Trustees and to be under
the State Superintendent of Public Instruction.
This would make six institutions seeking support
from the sale of the two townships of land allocat-
ed to the University.

The five institutions established by these acts
were doomed to failure. The branch at Dubuque
never got started; the one at Fairfield, after many
difficulties, was discontinued January 24, 1853. Of
the proposed Normal Schools, the one at Mount
Pleasant was never organized; but the other two
operated for several years. Although their admin-
Istrators petitioned the Legislature, the Board of
Trustees of the University, and the Superintend-
ent of Public Instruction, they were never able to
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get money from the University fund. The new
Constitution of 1857 settled the matter once and
for all by locating the University at lowa City
without branches at any other place.

By 1854 the University was still a paper insti-
tution and a tide of irritation was rising. Among
the impatient was Governor James W . Grimes
who iIn his inaugural declared: | think the time
has come when steps should be taken to carry out
the design of Congress in making the grant.”

The Trustees had been delayed not only by the
difficulty in selecting and disposing of the town-
ship grants throughout the State, but also by the
task of securing an administrator and assembling
a faculty for the proposed institution.

In the fall of 1854, the Board elected W illiam
C. Larrabee of Asbury University (later De-
Pauw) of Greencastle, Indiana, as President of
the University at a salary of $1,500 and Hiram
Moore of the same institution as Professor at a
salary of $1,200. Neither accepted but Mr. Lar-
rabee made a trip to lowa City before declining.

Spurred on by letters from the Governor and
the Superintendent of Public Instruction to the
General Assembly that the time had come for the
University to be put into “practical operation/
and by a resolution of the Legislature, the Board
apparently took steps to make a start in March.
1855. Early that spring, the small two-story brick
building, known as Mechanics Academy and lo-
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cated on the northwest corner of lowa Avenue and
Linn Street, where a wing of East Hall now
stands, showed signs of activity. A pile of wood,
neatly cut, stood ready for use. Inside a pleasant
warmth radiated from a stove that was unmistak-
ably new. An lowa City newspaper advertise-
ment had given notice that the University was
open to receive students.

The program to be offered was under the super-
vision of Abel Beach, Professor of Ancient Lan-
guages, and Alexander Johnston, Professor of
Mathematics. Their appointment was recognized
by action of the Board March 15, 1855, fixing the
term at sixteen weeks and tuition at $4 per term.

At the end of the term three salary warrants
were issued for instruction in the University. Abel
Beach was paid $1 30 for seven weeks, Alexander
Johnston was given $416.67, and W illiam A. Mc-
Ginley received $200 for eight weeks as a substi-
tute for Abel Beach, who had resigned because of
iIliness. Further expenditures included $76.45 to
the Presbyterian Church for the purchase of a bell
and an additional amount for equipment— seats,
desks, and blackboards.

During sessions in 1855 the Board selected a
faculty in preparation for the opening of the aca-
demic year in September. Lorin Andrews of Gam -
bier, Ohio, was elected president, but he, too, de-
clined. James Hall of Albany, New York, was
elected Professor of Geology, Zoology, and N atu-
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ral History at a salary of $1,500 a year, and Jo-
stah D. W hitney was appointed to the chair of
Mineralogy, Meteorology, and Chemistry at
$1,000. H. S. Welton was selected Professor of
Languages, John Van Valkenburg, Professor of
the Normal Department, and E. M. Guffin, Pro-
fessor of the Preparatory Department. Upon the
recommendation of Professor Hall, Amos Dean of
the Albany Law School was chosen Chancellor of
the University and Professor of History.

W ith a president (although not iIn residence),
a faculty, and Ilaboratory equipment valued at
$500, the University opened on September 19,
1855, for a term of seventeen weeks, to be fol-
lowed, after a vacation of two weeks, with a term
of twenty-three weeks. Tuition for the short term
just completed was ordered refunded, and tuition
for the 1855-56 school year was to be free to resi-
dents of lowa.

The Board allowed funds for further advertis-
ing, $106.21 for books, $266.74 for repairs and
equipment, and $109.25 for wood (no coal for
three more years). The faculty, which actually
served during the year, consisted of only four—
Professors W elton and Johnston in the University
proper, and John Van Valkenburg and E. M.
Guffin in the Normal and Preparatory Depart-
ments respectively.

Chancellor Amos Dean, fifty-two years of age,
scholarly, and interested iIn education, accepted
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the office on condition that he could retain his po-
sition in the Albany Law School. He made only
three trips to lowa, but his plan for organization of
the University was adopted by the Board in Jan-
uary, 1856, and he purchased books as a nucleus
for the University Library. He also helped draw
up lowa school laws but never assumed adminis-
trative nor instructional duties.

On January 7, 1856, the Board of Trustees
adopted Chancellor Dean’s plans for the Univer-
sity which iIncluded the following departments:
Ancient Languages, Modern Languages, Intellec-
tual Philosophy, Moral Philosophy, History, N a-
tural History, Mathematics, Natural Philosophy,
and Chemistry. Added to these were a Normal
Department and a Preparatory Department with
a Professor for each. Male students were to be
at least 15 years and female students at least
14 years on admission. No student was perm itted
to take less than the studies of three departments.

Under Dean and a reorganized faculty, the
school year began on the third W ednesday of Sep-
tember, 1856, and continued for fifty-one weeks
with one week of vacation at holiday time. Tuition
was set at $10 per term.

According to the first University catalog, issued
for the year 1856-1857, the total number of stu-
dents enrolled was 124— males, 83, females, 41, of
whom 105 were in the Normal and Preparatory
Departments— males, 68, females, 37— and the
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number of collegiate students In various depart-
ments was males, 15, females, 4. Expenses for the
year, including appropriations for library, appa-
ratus, and all other objects was $8,577.91.

The year, 1857, opened auspiciously, but the
new Constitution placed the control of all educa-
tion in lowa, including the University, in the hands
of the newly constituted Board of Education which
In turn appointed a new Board of Trustees— seven
In number— to govern the University.

This Board, beset by financial problems, decid-
ed to close the University for one year— it proved
to be two— but to retain the Normal Department
If the Chancellor could find a principal. Dean se-
lected D. Franklin W ells for the position. The
Board also voted to exclude females. This action
aroused opposition and never took effect.

The third and fourth catalogs are of the Normal
Department alone as all other University work
had been suspended and the faculty dismissed In
1858. Certain students selected by the Governor,
the Superintendent of Public Instruction, and
District Court Judges received free instruction
upon agreeing to teach in lowa fora specified time.

At the close of the college year, 1857-58, the
University, on recommendation of the faculty,
conferred diplomas upon graduates of the Normal
Department. Its first degree, B.S., went to Dexter
Edson Smith, who had completed the required
work in the collegiate department.



A New Start— 1360-1870

From 1858 until 1870 the Normal Department
was the only part of the University in operation.
In the fall of 1870 the Collegiate Department
opened under a new president and faculty.

Amos Dean had resigned in 1859 rather than
come to lowa City to administer his office. On
October 26, 1859, the Board of Trustees elected
Silas Totten president of the University. As ad-
ministrative head, President Totten was equipped
both in experience and ability to launch the newly
organized State University of lowa. He had been
President of Trinity College iIn Connecticut for
eleven years, and Professor of Rhetoric and Men-
tal Philosophy in the College of William and
Mary in Virginia. A Southerner, he had come to
lowa City as the rector of the Episcopalian parish.

President Totten addressed the General As-
sembly on the functions of the University, recom-
mended suitable persons for the faculty, and pre-
pared a plan of organization for the University.
He placed Theodore S. Parvin, with the title of
Librarian and Curator, in charge of the books and
museum collections. Professors, elected by the
Board to the various departments, included Presi-
dent Totten to the Department of Intellectual and
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Moral Philosophy and Rhetoric, also temporarily
to the Department of History and Political Econo-
my; the Rev. Oliver M. Spencer, A .M., D.D., to
the Department of Languages; Nathan R. Leon-
ard, A.M ., to the Department of Mathematics and
Astronomy; the Rev. James Lillie, M.D., D.D., to
the Department of Chemistry and Natural Philos-
ophy; and Theodore S. Parvin to the Department
of Natural History. Professors Spencer and Lillie
exchanged chairs with Board approval.

An appropriation of $3,000 for repairs and
$10,000 for a new building, made by the General
Assembly In March, 1858, provided funds for
much needed repairs and alterations to the interior
of Old Capitol for classroom purposes, and for the
start of a new three-story brick building to the
south to be used as a boarding hall, classrooms,
dormitory, and a home for the literary societies.
Completion of the latter building was impossible
with the allocation made for it; but a second ap-
propriation by the General Assembly in April,
1860— proceeds from the sale of saline lands—
added $5,000 for repairs on OIld Capitol and
$5,000 to complete the new building.

The outward appearance of OIld Capitol was
little changed when the University reopened in the
fall of 1860; but inside, the east half of the Senate
Chamber was occupied by a cabinet for geological
specimens and the west half was used as the Ii-
brary. Classrooms and offices for the President
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and faculty occupied the rest of the first and sec-
ond floors, while the janitor had his residence In
the basement. The Normal Department, which
had been housed iIn the southwest room of OlId
Capitol from 1858 to 1860, was moved to Me-
chanics Academy— the only building used by the
University from 1855 to 1858. The new building
rising to the south of OIld Capitol gave evidence
that the isolation of the latter would be broken.

Such was the campus of the University when
the new session opened on September 19, 1860.
There would be no further interruption of its serv-
iIces to the people of the State as both grew iIn
stature and strength. Number of students entered
In the fall of 1860 was 173. Co-education had
been reinstated after its attempted abolition by the
Board of Trustees in 1858.

University life, except as it was affected by en-
listments for the Civil W ar, went on in regular un-
hurried rhythm in the sixties, and students sought
new activities in various ways. Chapel exercises
were conducted daily for fifteen minutes and strict
discipline was exercised In regard to attendance.
Students (especially those not living at home)
were required to attend church services on Sun-
days. Social life expanded through a series of
student sociables.

North Hall, north of Old Capitol, was added
during the decade of the sixties. On its second
floor was the chapel, adorned with gallery and
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stained glass windows. The library occupied one
end of the second floor. The first floor was used
for the chemical laboratory. Two appropriations,
totaling $33,000, were made by the General As-
sembly for the new building, and this amount was
augmented by private donations.

South Hall had many uses during the decade
1860-1870. It provided at times private rooms for
faculty members, an office for the University
Treasurer, classrooms, and rooms for the newly
organized Literary Societies on the top floor. Me-
chanics Academy became the property of the Llini-
versity in 1866 and was fitted up to meet, In a
small way, the great demand for cheaper living
quarters for students.

The system of departments, as recommended by
President Totten, persisted for a time as best
adapted for students although <college classes
(Freshman, Sophomore, Junior, Senior) began to
win approval of both students and faculty. In
1865 the Board of Trustees declared in favor of
adopting the class plan for all students.

By the reorganization of the course of study In
1869, the Preparatory Department was Incorpo-
rated into the collegiate course which now required
five years for its completion, three years for gen-
eral study, and two for specialized study in either
of the major lines— Scientific and Literary— with
an increased number of elective studies.

Sciences, especially in their practical applica-
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tions, grew iIn importance at the University. Lab-
oratory equipment was added as means permitted.
In 1868, the General Assembly appropriated
$20,000 to the University, part of which was spe-
cifically allocated for the Science Department. A
Chemical Laboratory, using features from the
plans of four leading universities in this field, was
built by Professor Gustavus Hinrichs, who pro-
moted the spirit of scientific investigation 1in his
Chemistry and Physical Science classes. The in-
creasing enrollment in science courses brought, In
1868, the first University assistant professor.

W hen President Totten resigned Iin 1862, Pro-
fessor Oliver M. Spencer was unanimously select-
ed as his successor, serving as President for four
years. In 1866 he was given a leave of absence
for one year to become American Consul at Genoa,
but did not return, tendering his resignation at the
end of the year. Professor Nathan R. Leonard
served as Acting President during his absence.
Upon the final resignation of President Spencer,
the Reverend James Black, Vice President of
W ashington and Jefferson University in W ash-
Ington, Pennsylvania, was elected. He was the
first formally Inaugurated President.

Among the duties which devolved upon the
faculty during this period was the government of
the student body In matters of discipline, in con-
ducting chapel exercises and the public rhetor-
ical, and iIn supervising the literary organizations.
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The Zetagathian Society, founded In 1861, and
the Irving Institute were for men students; and the
Hesperian and Erodelphian Societies were for
women. Several other literary and scientific
“clubs” were formed. A University Band was
organized in 1865, and choir music became a fea-
ture at chapel and other assemblies.

The Civil W ar drained men from the Univer-
sity, and in 1863 the Board appropriated $500 to
establish a Military Department to increase the
service of the University to the State and Nation.
Arms and accouterment were received from the
Federal Government. A like sum was allowed for
gymnastic training. Both projects were popular
for a time.

The faculty, adapting itself with patience to
the limitations it met, was nevertheless alert to
every opportunity for expansion. Outstanding for
zeal and ability in their professions in this decade
were Professor Hinrichs, whose teaching iInspired
enthusiasm 1In his students, and whose researches
In Physical Science gained international recogni-
tion; Nathan R. Leonard, recognized as a teacher
of exceptional knowledge; C. Augustus Eggert,
who, answering the requirement that the teacher of
Modern Languages should be a native German,
raised the standards and status of his Department;
Oliver M. Spencer, whose classes in Natural
Philosophy were among the most popular and at-
tractive; Theodore S. Parvin, capable and tireless
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In all his duties; and Amos N. Currier, who pos-
sessed genuine talents as a teacher.

The University Reporter, its first issue appear-
Ing in October, 1868, reflected academic life and
events on the campus. This was the beginning
of journalism at the University.

Support for the University during this decade
was drawn from four sources— interest from the
University fund derived from sale of the original
grant of land and from the sale of saline lands;
appropriations by the General Assembly; rent
from student rooms; and student fees. In spite of
strict economy, money needed for salaries, LI-
brary, and for more buildings was in short supply.

Steps toward the organization of a Law Depart-
ment were taken in 1865. In that year, a commit-
tee of Judges of the Supreme Court urged whole-
heartedly the establishment of such a department.
The General Assembly in March, 1868, made an
appropriation of $20,000 to the University to aid
scientific and other departments which the Trus-
tees deemed proper to establish. Thus authorized,
the Trustees acted immediately to organize a Law
Department.

In September of 1868 the lowa Law School of
Des Moines, founded 1in 1865 by George G.
W right and Chester C. Cole, lowa Supreme
Court judges, and conducted by them and W il-

ltam G. Hammond, was taken over as the Law D e-
partment of the LlIniversity.
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The founders of the lowa Law School became
the law faculty at the University. William G.
Hammond was elected Resident Professor and
Principal (Chancellor in 1870). Judges Wright
and Cole were elected assistant professors and
came to lowa City, for part of the year, to give
Instruction. Of the $7,600 set apart for the Law
Department, $2,000 was designated for a law li-
brary and the faculty helped by loaning their
books to the library. Textbooks were purchased
by the University and rented to students.

The Law Department operated its classrooms,
library, and faculty rooms iIn an area partitioned
off iIn the House of Representatives chamber of
Old Capitol. The course comprised one year of
three terms leading to a degree and admission to
practice after a satisfactory examination. Twen-
ty-five students were enrolled the first year—
1868-69. The total attendance the last year of the
decade was thirty-six. Nineteen received law de-
grees at commencement on June 28, 1870.

In September, 1868, while the Law Department
was holding its first classes, the Board of Trustees
established a Medical Department to be opened,
If practical, in the fall of 18609.

1 he Medical Department contemplated in 1868
was a new organization, distinct from what had
been known for twenty years as the Medical De-
partment of the State University of lowa at Keo-
kuk. Physicians in eastern lowa petitioned the
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General Assembly to establish a Medical Depart-
ment. State Representative John P. Irish of lowa
City gave strong support to the project. Legis-
lative action was deferred, however, until Septem -
ber, 1868, when a definite plan of organization
was provided and steps taken to carry it into ef-
fect. Chairs were created, faculty appointments
made, and rooms in South Hall were prepared for
use by the department. Administration of the new
Medical Department closely paralleled provisions
for the Law Department. Fees were threefold:
matriculation, $5.00; lectures, $80.00; and gradua-
tion, $30.00.

Before the opening took place, opposition to
the department, especially from friends of the
Keokuk school, reached the Legislature. In June,
1870, a bill to abolish it passed the Senate, but was
iIndefinitely postponed iIn the House. Four of the
nine members of the newly created Board of Re-
gents also stated their opposition to the depart-
ment in a resolution of protest.

Despite all opposition, the Medical Department
was opened In September (October) 1870. The
staff consisted of Doctors W . F. Peck, P. J. Farns-
worth, J. H. Boucher, W . S. Robertson, John F.
Kennedy, and John C. Shrader. Judge John F.
Dillon and Professor Gustavus Hinrichs also

served on the staff. Dr. W . D. Middleton was
added the next summer.

Doctors soon had to concern themselves with
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provisions for hospital facilities. Dr. Peck, dean
and surgeon of the Medical Department, per-
formed operations before his classes in South Hall.
Patients then had to be sent to rooming houses in
lowa City. The need for a hospital was very
great; and once more Mechanics Academy was
pressed iInto service. The Regents used such
slender funds as were available, supplemented by
gifts from the faculty, donations from the City
Council, and gifts from friends of the University.
Nursing service was in charge of the Sisters of
Mercy, supervised by Sister Barromeo, who had
previously worked with Dr. Peck Iin Davenport.

In December, 1870, an event occurred which
brought discredit to the new department. A newly
made grave in the lowa City cemetery was robbed
of a woman’s body and medical students were
blamed. Sheriff Sam M cCadden acted promptly
to recover the body, Representative John P. Irish
consulted with the students, and the body ulti-
mately was returned to the undertaker. No charg-
es were filed.

The last year of the decade (1860-1870) found
some 430 students, representing 15 states and
Canada, participating in the increased opportuni-
ties of the State University of lowa. Alumni,
gathering In reunion in June, 1867, noted with In-
terest and pride the growth of the University of
which they had witnessed the beginnings.



The Middle Years— 1870-1900

The middle years of the University saw the in-
stitution develop In many ways and its influence
spread throughout the state. Better support came
from the Legislature, internal troubles were re-
solved. and a Legislative iInvestigation in 1888
cleared the University of charges brought against
it. A Board of Regents replaced the Board of
Trustees in 1870.

In March, 1870, the Legislature appropriated
$25,000 as increased support for the University,
especially for science. At this time the University
had one of the best science laboratories iIn the
nation and, under the direction of Gustavus Det-
lief Hinrichs, was assuming world leadership 1In
this field. However, under sweeping changes made
by the new president, George Thacher, authorized
by the Board of Regents, those on the faculty op-
posed to the rapid growth of science had their way.

Chairs of English Literature and Language
were introduced in 1873. In 1875 the Board of
Regents provided for a Chair of Engineering. In
1874 a Chair of Military Tactics was created and
compulsory military training was established in
1875. An astronomical laboratory was erected on
the site now occupied by the President's Home In

51
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1875. Social Studies were improved Iin 1875 when
Leonard F. Parker was named instructor in His-
tory and Stephen N. Fellows became instructor
In Political and Moral Science. In 1876 the Home-
opathic Medical Department was established.

The Regents asked for and received President
Thacher’s resignation in 1877. Christian Slagle,
a lawyer and Board member from Fairfield, was
his successor. Lip to this time the presidents and
most of the faculty had been ministers.

As early as 1868 a Legislative Visiting Com-
mittee had recommended an annual LlIniversity en-
dowment support fund from a statewide tax. Such
a Dbill, introduced by Representative John Powell
Irish of lowa City, was defeated; but In 1878 a
similar bill, providing a permanent annual endow -
ment of $20,000, passed the Legislature.

In 1878 the Board of Regents elected Josiah L.
Pickard, superintendent of schools in Chicago for
thirteen years, as president. That same year the
Collegiate Department was divided into a School
of Science and a School of Letters in an attempt to
provide a better education— both the practical and
the liberal. For nearly a decade after 1878 the
University enjoyed a substantial growth and ac-
ceptance throughout the State. The course of
study adopted in 1879 remained in effect until
1885 with no fundamental changes.

The Board passed a resolution in 1873 declar-
Ing: “That smoking and spitting tobacco spittle In
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the University buildings be strictly prohibited, and
that the president of the University be required
through the faculty to see to the strict enforcement
of this resolution."

During the middle seventies the Board raised
the question as to whether the faculty was work-
Ing hard enough to earn the salaries paid. Faculty
members were asked to submit reports, from which
it appeared they were a much overworked group.

An Iimprovement ordered by the Board in the
early seventies was an iron fence to be built
around the campus. In the late seventies gas lamps
were installed between OIld Capitol and North
and South Halls.

On March 22, 1878, the General Assembly au-
thorized a $20,000 annual appropriation provided
no part of it be used for the Preparatory Depart-
ment. This came at a fortunate time. Old Capitol
was In need of repair both iInside and out as was
North Hall. The fence on the west side of the

campus was in a tumbled down condition. A new
heating system was needed.

The Board of Regents dropped the Preparatory
Department completely in the summer of 1879,
complying with the mandate of the General As-
sembly. The effect was good throughout the state.
Additional high schools were accredited by the
University, and iIn lowa City some 300 students
enrolled In two academies.

A Visiting Committee from the General Assem-
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bly approved the request of President Pickard and
the faculty for more space and equipment. A new
Medical Building in 1882 relieved some of the
congestion but the establishment of a Department
of Dentistry in 1882 and a Department of Phar-
macy in 1885 created fresh demands for buildings.
In 1884 money was appropriated fora new Science
Building which was constructed on the present
site of Macbride Hall and completed in 1885.

Throughout the 1880 s, the struggle for needed
appropriations continued. In 1886 a bill to re-
organize the University, dismiss the Regents and
many professors, was introduced In the Legisla-
ture. It was defeated. From 1885 to 1889 the
Liniversity passed through what was called an
Era of Doubt.” President Pickard resigned in the
spring of 1887 after nine years of faithful service.

In the 1880 s the LlIniversity became involved
In political and personal controversies. The dis-
missal of Professor Hinrichs from the Collegiate
Department in 1885 and from the Medical De-
partment in 1886 for his violent disagreements
with the faculty and president pleased his enemies
and shocked his friends. For years after his dis-
missal Hinrichs was an outspoken foe of the Board
of Regents, the faculty, the president, the Medical
Department, and the entire University.

Early in 1887 the Regents selected George
Ashmead Schaeffer of Cornell Liniversity as Pres-
ident from a field of eight well-qualified candi-
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dates. He was inaugurated on June 22, 1887, and
assumed his duties the following September. The
Inauguration was held in the Opera House to ac-
commodate the large crowd.

In his Inaugural address President Schaeffer
announced his program to place the University of
lowa on a level with the leading universities of the
country. This plan included better assignment of
duties for and treatment of the faculty; more com-
modious buildings and laboratories with better
equipment; a library supplied with more books and
journals; the addition of charts and models for
science; the addition to the collections in the mu-
seum; the building of a gymnasium for physical
development of students; and finally, additional
financial aid for the University. The University,
he said, should provide excellent training in let-
ters and science for both men and women.

W hen President Schaeffer took over his duties
In the fall of 1887, he found himself in the midst
of a discordant situation. The dismissal of Pro-
fessor Hinrichs iIn 1886 remained a distressing
problem. He was further troubled by the dismis-
sals of Professors Nathan R. Leonard, Stephen N.
Fellows, and Leonard F. Parker by the Regents In
June of 1887. They were lost in a bitter clash in-
volving the Legislature, the Board of Regents, the
liguor iInterests of the State, and their own support
of prohibition. This action aroused the faculty,
students, newspapers, and alumni. AIll these men
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had served the University well— Leonard for a
quarter of a century and as acting president twice.

As a result of public demand, the Legislature
launched an investigation of the University which
lasted for two months— May to July, 1888. The
Legislative Committee aired all charges against
the University— including those of Hinrichs, Fel-
lows, Leonard, and Parker— and, at the end. de-
clared most of the charges untrue. The Comm.ittee
sald, however, there was room for improvement
In the management of University affairs. All In
all, the report was favorable to the University, the
Committee concluding that the University was a
great credit to the state.

Schaeffer was now faced with the problem of
strengthening the support and good will of the
Board of Regents, the faculty, the student body,
and the alumni. University morale was at low ebb.
Both the Medical and Dental Departments had
Internal troubles. Homeopathic Medical students
were jeered by students in the Allopathic Medical
Department. Townspeople complained of student
pranks. Governor Larrabee was concerned about
student discipline. The majority of the alumni,
doubtful about the general management of the
University, looked on with skepticism.

Because of his many difficulties and the magni-
tude of his administrative task, President Schaeffer
gave up the Professorship of Political Science In
the Collegiate Department and later the Chair of
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Chemistry and Toxology in the Medical Depart-
ment. His efforts to develop cooperation with, and
support of the Board of Regents, was successful.
Regent Albert W . Swalm expressed the opinion
of the Board when he said: "In my opinion it was
a day rich in great good fortune for the University
when Dr. Schaeffer was put at the head of it. His
splendid executive qualities, his ripe, thorough
scholarship and the dozen other qualities that mark
him all combine to make him a model President of
an institution as varied and great as this.

Schaeffer also won over the faculty. He at-
tended their meetings frequently, took a personal
Interest in each one, defended them from attacks,
and showed a deep concern for their welfare.

Likewise, he gained the support of the student
body. He aided many with gifts or loans of money,
he endorsed and supported their activities, and
visited various student functions with his wife. He
also helped students obtain employment after
graduation. In 1889 he had tennis courts built on
the campus for their use, and in 1894 helped ob-
tain a field for track, baseball, and football along
the lowa River southwest of the campus (OId
lowa Field). He was especially interested in the
student publication— The Vidette Reporter. He
administered discipline with justice.

President Schaeffer recognized the importance
of the alumni in his program. He traveled through-
out the State visiting and speaking at alumni meet-
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Ings. The alumni attitude changed from skepti-
cism to enthusiastic support.

One of the methods which Schaeffer used to es-
tablish friendly relations between the Board of
Regents, faculty, students, alumni, and himself
was the presidential reception during commence-
ment week. Everyone connected with the Univer-
sity was invited and this won him many friends.

The work of the Y.M.C.A. and Y .W .C.A. at
the University helped offset charges of lack of reli-
gion among students. The building of Close Hall
as their headquarters, through donations of Mrs.
C. W . Close, other citizens, and students in 1890-
91, reflected a good moral atmosphere.

President Schaeffer frequently accepted invita-
tions to speak before various groups in lowa, and
he iInvited organizations to visit the University.
His relations with the State Legislature were
friendly— legislators responding more liberally to
his requests for additional funds in the 1890’s. He
often had the help of key men in Des Moines and
throughout the State during Legislative sessions.
His biennial reports to the Legislature were clear
and effective statements of University needs. He
also was on friendly terms with the governors of
lowa (William Larrabee, Horace Boles, and
Frank D. Jackson), and secured their support of
his requests for appropriations.

There was great rejoicing among faculty, stu-
dents, alumni, and people in lowa City when Pres-
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ident Schaeffer received, in 1896, Legislative con-
sent to use the proceeds of a one-mill tax for five
years to build new University buildings.

In 1890 lowa City gave the State a city park
between lowa Avenue and M arket Street, east
of Dubuque Street, to meet the expanding needs
of the University. The Legislature then made an
appropriation of $50,000 for a new Chemistry-
Pharmacy Laboratory to be built in the southeast
corner of this park area.

President Schaeffer supported and promoted
athletics at the University. His daughter made the
awards at the First Annual Field Day of the lowa
Athletic Association held on Old lowa Field on
May 10, 1890, where two Irish lads from Dublin
via Dubuque (William P. Slattery and his cousin,
Jeremiah Slattery) won most of the first and sec-
ond prizes. They wore track suits for the first time
at an lowa sports event and brought exclamations
of shocked surprise from the ladies present. lowa
then went on to win first place at the First Annual
Field Day of the lowa Inter-Collegiate Athletic
Association held in June at Grinnell. Later lowa
won national fame with the spectacular feats of
John V. Crum of Bedford, lowa, who, in 1894 and
1895, won thirty-seven consecutive races in the
100-yard and 220-yard dashes. Crum won both
events in the W estern Intercollegiate Meet in
Chicago In 1894-1895, American Intercollegiate
Meet in 1895, Chicago Athletic Games in 1895,
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and the Labor Day Games, New York, 1895,
Students, faculty and townspeople turned out to
give him a tremendous ovation on his return.

President Schaeffer was an ardent supporter of
football which had begun iIn 1889; of baseball
which had begun earlier; and of tennis for which
he had supplied new courts. He encouraged fo-
rensics. lowa joined the Northern Otratorical
League in 1891 and won distinction in debating.

Schaeffer scoured the country to get outstand-
iIng men for the faculty. Several members of his
staff attained national reputations for theirachieve-
ments. C. C. Nutting, Thomas H. Macbride, Bo-
humil Shimek, and Samuel Calvin had enviable
reputations among naturalists of the East for their
museum work and scientific expeditions. Addition-
al support from the Legislature made it possible to
raise the salaries of some of the professors. Dean
Amos N. Currier was raised to $2,200— an in-
crease of $400 over his annual pay for ten years.

From 1896 to 1900 more money was granted
the University for support, equipment, and phys-
ical expansion. The Regents decided to concen-
trate on a collegiate building to cost not less than
$150,000 and a hospital building to cost not less
than $75,000.

Plans went forward to build a durable and com-
modious Collegiate Building, harmonious in style
with Old Capitol. Henry Van Brunt, Court of
Honor architect of the Chicago W orld’s Fair in
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1893, was secured to advise the Regents. The lo-
cation of the building followed suggestions of Van
Brunt. This building, dignified and classical, was
the beginning of the Pentacrest which reflected the
architecture of the Chicago W orld’s Fair.

On the morning of June 19, 1897, North Hall
was badly damaged by fire cause by a bolt of
lightning. The library on the top floor lost all
but 8,821 books out of a total of 33,000 volumes.
The Legislature, then in session, refused to make
a special appropriation to replace North Hall, and
the Regents were compelled to reconstruct the
old building. The next General Assembly made an
appropriation for the repair of the building and a
partial replacement of the books.

The astonishing development of the University
during the decade 1887-1897 was largely due to
the genius and untiring efforts of President George
Ashmead Schaeffer, who died on September 23,
1898. His funeral was held three days later at the
Trinity Episcopal Church. It was attended by
Governor Leslie M. Shaw and other notables, the
Board of Regents, faculty, students, alumni, and
townspeople who mourned his loss. He was laid
to rest in the lowa City cemetery near the scene

of his many triumphs. The Hawkeye of 1900 was
dedicated to his memory.



The New University— 1900-1916

Following the death of President Schaeffer,
Dean Amos Noyes Currier served as Acting Pres-
ident until the Board of Regents selected George
E. MacLean as President in June, 1899. In his in-
augural, MacLean noted that agricultural and in-
dustrial distress was giving way to prosperity,
and that 1900 marked the beginning of the “New
University,” the subject of his address.

The General Assembly that year not only ex-
tended the one-tenth mill levy for buildings for
another five years, but added $50,000 annually
for support. The Collegiate Department became
the College of Liberal Arts, a Graduate College
was established, the offices of Registrar and Dean
of Nurses were created, and a Department of
Physical Education and Athletics was established.

One of the first changes made by President
MacLean was the appointment of a Registrar in
the fall of 1900. Miss Bertha Bell Quaintance,
from Nebraska, was chosen to relieve professors
of the task of registering students. W hen John G.
Bowman, later University president, registered as
a freshman he had an interview with Professor G.
T. W . Patrick who made out a card and put it in
a shoebox. That was the Registrar s Office.

62
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The work of the Registrar's Office was supple-
mented by the post of University Examiner, first
held by H. C. Dorcas, who later served for many
years as University Examiner and Registrar. For-
est C. Ensign became University Examiner and
Registrar in 1911. W hen Ensign left for graduate
work at Columbia University, Professor Dorcas
succeeded him, holding the post until 1939.

The new Liberal Arts building, long in construc-
tion, was finally finished and officially dedicated
on January 23, 1902. The Medical Building and
Old South Hall had burned in 1901. Temporarily
the Department of Medicine was housed In a shed
formed by putting a roof over the basement of Old
South Hall. A new Medical Building was impera-
tive. Both Governor Leslie M. Shaw and his suc-
cessor, Governor Albert B. Cummins, favored the
project and gave their support. The General As-
sembly appropriated $50,000 for a new Medical
Building to be built east of the central campus.

From 1896, when the building tax was first
levied, to 1910, some 18 buildings, or additions to
buildings, were erected from proceeds of the mill-
age tax totaling $1,200,000.

The Board of Regents, which succeeded the
Board of Trustees in 1870 and, which in turn, was
succeeded by the State Board of Education in
1909, had been in control of the University during
a period of great growth and expansion. Members
had witnessed the transformation of the school
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from a small country college, sometimes derisively
referred to as the “Johnson County High School,”
to a university with a nationwide reputation.

W hen Judge William J. Haddock, who had
been Secretary of the University and the Board of
Regents since 1.864, resigned in 1902, it left an
Important position to be filled. Haddock had many
duties. He advertised for bids for new buildings,
handled purchasing and watched over supplies,
hired laborers, handled all fees and other income
except tuition, prepared warrants for expenditures,
kept a record of patients received and discharged
at University Hospitals, and managed their ac-
counts. In addition, he was Superintendent of
Buildings and Grounds. He performed these
services well. A fter his resignation, the Regents
redefined the responsibilities of the office, and
William J. M cChesney became Secretary and
Treasurer of the University.

President MacLean <created the position of
Dean of Women in 1901. Alice Young served as
first dean, being succeeded during MacLean’s
period by Mary Sleight Evarts, Mable Montgom -
ery Volland, and Anna Marie Klingenhagen. The
Dean of Women was concerned with the health
and hygiene of women students, lodging places
for them, counselling about personal problems, and
arrangements for social affairs.

The question of proper and adequate housing
for women was a perennial one. Sororities pur-
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chased or rented chapter houses. The Mark Ran-
ney home and certain other residences were oper-
ated as boarding and rooming houses for women
under the auspices of the University. W hen the
Legislature failed to make an appropriation for
a dormitory, the four-story building on the north-
west corner of Dubuque and Jefferson streets was
opened under private auspices as a dormitory for
women under the name of Svendi Hall. It was
occupied during the year, 1909-1910, by twenty-
seven women students and the Dean of Women.

W ork on a new dormitory for women, Currier
Hall, begun in 1912, was completed in 1913, and
was fully occupied that fall by 168 women. Pres-
ident M acbride referred to it in his report for 1914
as the greatest achievement’ of the biennium.

The office of Dean of Men evolved from an ad-
visory system designed to reduce delinquency
among men students. In 1911 a new plan with a
single advisor for men was introduced. Professor
Forest C. Ensign, Registrar and University E Xx-
aminer. was named by President Bowman to the
position. He acted as Dean for the College of
Liberal Arts and the entire University.

Assisting Ensign in the office, starting in 1913,
was Robert E. Rienow as Junior Dean of Men.
W hen Ensign left for graduate work at Columbia
In 1915, Rienow succeeded him. Given the title
of Dean of Men In 1918, Dean Rienow served
successfully in that capacity for many years.
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The presidency of George E. MacLean extend-
ed from the fall of 1899 to 1911. He was succeed-
ed by John G. Bowman whose short administra-
tion ended in March, 1914, at which time the ven-
erable Thomas Huston Macbride acceded to the
presidency to hold office until the fall of 1916, at
which time the long administration of W alter A.
Jessup began.

Income sources for the University from 1900 to
1916 consisted of (1) Tuition and Fees, (2) In-
terest and Rent from the original endowment and
from University lands not yet sold, (3) Perma-
nent Annual Appropriations, (4) Special Appro-
priations, and (5) Mill Levies for Buildings and
Equipment.

The income from (1) and (2) was relatively
small as tuition in Liberal Arts was only $25 a
year— reduced to $20 in 1904. Permanent annual
and special appropriations plus the income from
the millage levy were indispensable and made up
the life blood of support for the University. The
professional colleges earned most of their own cost.

Increased support requested for Engineering
was opposed by the Legislature in 1904, and led
to a proposal to move the Engineering Department
to Ames. This was opposed vigorously by stu-
dents, faculty, and townspeople. The lowa City
Commercial Club brought the full Legislature to
lowa City for an investigation of the matter. As a
result, the Legislature responded with an appro-
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priation of $208,000, including $60,000 for a new
Engineering Building and a hydro-electric plant
on the lowa River. This action prepared the way
for a College of Applied Science and the firm
establishment of Engineering at lowa City.

In 1909 the Board of Regents gave way to the
new State Board of Education which continued
requests for funds for the institutions under its
control. The Legislature responded generously in
1911, 1913, and 1915. The new administration
under W alter A. Jessup began in 1916 under
favorable financial circumstances.

The first reaction to President MacLean on the
campus was favorable, but a decline Iin enrollment
for three years after 1901 led to questions about
his leadership. In June, 1904, the Board of Regents
conducted an investigation of the charges against
the President. The Board invited all parties to
testify— students, alumni, faculty members— any-
one who had information about charges against
the President. Some questioned his integrity, oth-
ers questioned MacLean s moral character. Some
faculty members were bitter about promises made
but not carried out. He was accused of favoritism
and wundue support of athletics. The Board
weighed the evidence, and concluded there was no
need for a change in the presidency of the Uni-
versity. They condemned the conduct of profes-
sors and instructors who had "improperly and un-
warrantably criticized the President and attempt-
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ed to undermine his influence. They suggested
that any dissatisfied professor could sever his con-
nection with the University.

The Board requested the resignations of Pro-
fessor Alfred V. Sims of the School of Applied
Science and of Professor Launcelot W . Andrews,
head of the Department of Chemistry, both vigor-
ous opponents of the President; but it declined to
consider the resignation of President MaclLean
which he had offered at the close of the iInquiry.

In the fall of 1904 registration reached a new
high, overcoming the losses of the previous three
years. “Gloom gave way to jubilation and the
University family rejoiced in the triumph over
despair.”
1905. The enrollment was unprecedented— 1,560;
the two new Medical Buildings (Laboratory and
Anatomy) were occupied, the new Engineering

Rejoicing continued 1In the spring of

Building was under construction, equipment in
every college was vastly increased, and the Old
Science Hall was being moved across the street
to make way for the new Hall of Natural Science.
Championships in baseball, tennis, and track add-
ed to the campus spirit as did the dedication of
the new Armory-Gymnasium Building on the low-
er campus west of Madison Street. The academic
years of 1904-1905 and 1905-1906 were rightly
considered “years of triumph.”

President MacLean was an important factor in
getting the University elected to the Association
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of American Universities in 1909. He attained
stature as a national figure In higher education,
adding to the prestige of the University. He was
president of the National Association of State
Universities, president of the North Central As-
sociation of Colleges and Secondary Schools, and
a member of important national comm ittees.

His “New University’” was revealed by the es-
tablishment of the Graduate College in 1900 (first
Ph.D. conferred on Fred D. Merritt, June, 1900);
the College of Applied Science (Engineering),
1905; College of Fine Arts, 1911; College of Ed-
ucation, 1913; and the School of Commerce, 1914
— the last two In Bowman’s administration.

Engineering developed from a department In
the College of Liberal Arts, to a School of Applied
Science in 1903 with Professor Laenus G. W eld,
then Dean of the Graduate College, as Director.
It became the College of Applied Science Iin 1905.
Professor William G. Raymond became Director
of the School when Professor W eld resigned in
1905, and Dean of the new college the same year.

A department of Fine Arts existed Iin the Col-
lege of Liberal Arts from 1906 to 1912 with music
and graphic and plastic arts offering courses in-
dependently. The department was made a College
In 1912, but insufficient support caused it to re-
vert to the College of Liberal Arts.

In June, 1906, Effie May Proffitt was put In
charge of the Department of Music which was
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housed In a brick building on Clinton Street, across
from the Hall of Natural Science. Registration
Increased and the department acquired the old
church on the corner of Clinton and lowa Avenue
for additional space. The College of Fine Arts,
with Professor Clark F. Ansley as first Dean, oc-
cupied space on the third floor of the new Physics
Building in 1912. Ansley was succeeded by
Charles A. Cumming of Des Moines; Gustav
Schoettle was the new head of music.
Development of teacher training from a depart-
ment in the College of Liberal Arts to an inde-
pendent college was another product of the “New
University 1dea. The Chair of Pedagogy gave
way to the Chair of the Science and Art of Edu-
cation with Professor Frederick E. Bolten as
head. The School of Education was established
In June, 1907, with Bolten as Director. Phi Kap-
pa Mu, later Phi Delta Kappa, an educational fra-
ternity, was established in 1909. President Bow-
man recommended that the School of Education
be made a College of Education with W alter A.
Jessup, who had been appointed Director, as the
Dean. This suggestion was adopted in July, 1913.
Likewise the development of a College of Com-
merce during this period was a feature of the
New University. Promoted by Professor lsaac
A. Loos, a School of Political and Social Science
was formed by the Board of Regents in 1900—
iIncluding history, political science, sociology, and
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economics. In 1908 the name was changed to
School of Political and Social Science and Com-
merce, and renamed in 1914 as the School of
Commerce. Political Science and History became
separate departments.

Home Economics was introduced into the Lib-
eral Arts curriculum in 1913 with Miss Ruth
W arded as head of the department. It was first
located in a refurbished OIld North Hall and later
In a section of the Natural Science Building.

An instructor In Journalism was added to the
Department of English in 1900. This area later be-
came a separate department and then the School
of Journalism.

New courses were introduced during this period
Into expanding departments— courses in religious
education, In political science, In classical and ro-
mance languages, and a two-year course iIn taxi-
dermy with Professor Homer R. Dill, later Direc-
tor of the University Museum, in charge. Profes-
sor Edwin Diller Starbuck introduced new courses
In Philosophy, and Professor Carl E. Seashore
gained fame for his researches in the psychology
of music and his unique psychology laboratory.

In 1910 Professor George W . Stewart, head of
the Department of Physics, announced the begin-
ning of work in radioactivity. Professor Benjamin
F. Shambaugh introduced a course in the Political

and Legal Status of Women in his Political Sci-
ence Department in 1914.
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The Library of the University more than dou-
bled In size during the period 1900-1916. A fter
the disastrous fire of 1897 destroyed some 25,000
volumes of the 33,000 on hand, no time was lost iIn
attempts to rebuild the library. By the fall of 1900
there were 57,000 books available. During the
summer of 1901 the Library was moved from
cramped quarters in North Hall to the third floor
of the new Liberal Arts Building, which it shared
with the library of the State Historical Society.
Complaints soon arose from those climbing the
stairs to reach the library. Accordingly, when the
Hall of Natural Science was finished in 1907 most
of the books were placed on the main floor and In
the basement of that building.

Before 1900 the University had enjoyed an en-
viable reputation for its Museum of Natural His-
tory. The contributions of Professors Calvin,
Macbride, Shimek, and Nutting, together with the
Hornaday collections of mammals, made up one
of the most valuable and extensive collections In
the Middle W est. The museum was moved from
the Old Science Hall into fireproof quarters in the
new Hall of Natural Science in the summer of
1907. In M ay of that year Homer R. Dill, former-
ly state taxidermist in Maine, was appointed taxi-
dermist and put in charge of the museum. He in-
troduced a course iIn taxidermy, and completed
new and unfinished exhibits. The Laysan Island
Exhibit, a cyclorama of bird life on the island,
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opened to the public In 1914, was an instant suc-
cess. It was the culmination of Professor Nutting s
trip to the Pacific island in 1911.

A County Club movement, later consolidated
Into the Greater University Committee, aroused
school spirit and enthusiasm on the campus and
throughout the State.

The Greater University Committee established
the annual Frolic held each year, beginning in
1909, In connection with commencement week ac-
tivities. Students and townspeople gathered in the
city park to witness a parade by classes, a tug-of-
war, tub races, canoe races on the river, obstacle
races, and a baseball game. In the fall of 1909 the
Greater University Committee raised money to
send the Band to Minneapolis for the lowa-Min-
nesota football game. “All University Mixers
were held in the Gym Iin December with a program
of music, talks, wrestling, and boxing. Through-
out these years the Greater University Committee
was a strong factor in maintaining school spirit on
the campus and in stimulating interest in the Uni-
versity throughout the State.

The State Board of Education requested the
resignation of President MacLean 1iIn January,
1911; and he complied, the resignation to take ef-
fect not later than August 1, 1911. Notwithstand-
Ing his success in the development of his ideas for
a New University, and his aggressive enthusi-
asm for these ideas, holdover effects of the 1904
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Investigation created an wunfavorable image for
some members of the faculty.

The Board of Education found itself in a hassle
when it proposed to move the College of Applied
Science to Ames In 1912 and to transfer Home
Economics from Ilowa State College to the Uni-
versity. Immediate opposition arose on the part
of students, faculty, and alumni. The struggle to
keep Engineering at lowa reached the Legislature
iIn 1913. In April a joint resolution passed both
houses requesting the Board of Education to re-
scind its action. The Board complied on April 4,
1913; and rejoicing and satisfaction at the Uni-
versity was widespread. Registration the follow-
ing fall increased by more than 400. The freshman
Engineering class numbered over 100 students.

The President of the University during the En-
gineering crisis and the recovery which followed
was John Gabbert Bowman, who had been ap-
pointed In February, 1911, and began his duties
the following fall. The new President was thirty-
four years of age, an alumnus of the University,
and had been an instructor in English from 1902
to 1904. A fter taking graduate work at Columbia
he became an instructor there, and was Secretary
of the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement
of Teaching when selected as president.

Before school opened In September, 1912, Bow-
man persuaded the Board of Education to appro-
priate $2,000 to remodel and refurnish the OId
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Unitarian Church building on the corner of lowa
Avenue and Clinton Street (Unity Hall) as a
Student Union.

The new president gave special attention to stu-
dent welfare and to improving and enriching stu-
dent life on the campus. W hen he resigned hastily
on March 20, 1914, due largely to differences of
opinion as to his and the Board s jurisdiction, it
shocked students, faculty, townspeople, and press
alike. The crisis was weathered by the appoint-
ment of the venerable and well-loved Thomas
Huston Macbride as President. It was his 36th
year on the campus where he had attained inter-
national fame as a botanist.

His presidency of two years provided a quiet
period in which tempers cooled and a sense of bal-
ance was regained. It provided a restorative in-
terval between the short but active administration
of President Bowman and the long vigorous ad-
ministration of President W alter A. Jessup. The
Board appointed Dr. Macbride as President
Emeritus.

The building program between 1900 and 1916
made Important contributions to the “New Uni-
versity envisaged by President MacLean. New
buildings included the College of Applied Science
unit, the Medical and Anatomy units, the Univer-
sity Hospital, Nurses Home, Dental Building, Law
Building, the Women's Gymnasium, and others.

Physical Education for both men and women,
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and organized athletics developed during these
years. Football, beginning with the championship
team of 1900 under Coach Alden A. Knipe, at-
tracted a large following, which reached a new
high with the establishment of an annual Home-
coming celebration beginning in 1912. Baseball,
basketball, track, and other sports prospered.

Summer sessions, beginning in 1900, had a
steady growth. The lowa Lakeside Laboratory,
established in 1909 by Professors Macbride and
Shimek, offered valuable summer study In marine
biology, botany, and geology.

The Extension Division, organized in 1913 with
O. E. Klingman as Director, brought the resources
of the University to the people of the state through
correspondence courses, conferences and insti-
tutes, information bulletins, high school speech ac-
tivities, and visual education materials.

Student Ilife after 1900 and before the first
W orld W ar had a certain charm and quiet which
was lost in later years. A deepening sense of iIn-
stitutional loyalty prevailed. Participation in ath-
letics, music, drama, debate, oratory, and other
activities afforded a chance for students to grow
and develop.

During the early years of this period six liter-
ary societies— Zetagathian, Irving Institute, and
Philomathean for men; and Hesperian, Erodel-
phian, and Octave Thanet for women— dominated
extra-curricular activities for students. Toward



THE NEW UNIVERSITY 77

the end of this period there was a decline in inter-
est in the literary societies. Events before and
duringWorld W ar | changed the tempo of cam-
pus life. Athletics, movies, autos, and dancing ap-
pealed to many. New courses in the Department
of Speech and Dramatic Art also aided iIn the de-
cline of literary societies.

Interest in music developed and a School of
Music was established. M ilitary drill was com-
pulsory for freshmen and sophomores in Liberal
Arts and Engineering. An annual encampment
was held at W est Liberty or some other place
near lowa City. This activity was well-received
for the most part, although there was some op-
position even then to the program.

The Y.M.C.A. and Y.W .C.A., with quarters
In Close Hall, helped students find lodging and
jobs. Students engaged Iin wood chopping, furnace
tending, restaurant and boarding house work; also
as maids, cooks, typists and stenographers, sales-
men, clerks, sign painters, pin boys, laundry work-
ers, janitors, and common laborers.

Efforts to secure a student union were unsuc-
cessful. Unity Hall received little support. The
St. James Hotel was tried next, but it was de-
stroyed by fire. Successful efforts to secure a stu-
dent union had to await the Jessup administration.

Students engaged In a variety of social activi-
ties. The Freshman Party, Sophomore Cotillion,
Junior Prom, Senior Hop, Pan Hellenic Dance,
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and Military Ball, were elaborate and popular
dancing parties held in the decorated Armory.

Fraternities and sororities grew Iin numbers and
Importance on the campus. These organizations
provided a home away from home for members,
group responsibility, and opportunities to make
lifelong friendships.

Organized yell leading developed between 1900
and 1916. The Engineers began production of an
annual show in 1910, M ECC A — the letters being
the initial letters of the several fields of Engineer-
iIng. Likewise Law students developed an annual
show called the Law-Jubilee. Freshman-Sopho-
more rivalry, which had resulted in hazing, duck-
Ing in the city water fountain, and fights gave way
to a push-ball contest on lowa Field in 1907.

Commencement was the highlight of the years
from 1900 to 1916. It included the Senior Dance,
the Senior Play, Literary Society programs, band
concerts, class reunions and alumni dinners, and
a final convocation with an address by a distin-
guished visitor and the conferring of degrees.
Earlier, commencement exercises were held in a
large tent, later in the Armory.

Throughout this period Old Stone Capitol con-
tinued to witness the growth and development of
the University as it had since the beginning. The
new University hymn, Old Gold, expressed the
sentiment of thousands of students who were
proud of their Alma M ater.



The Jessup Era—1916-1934

W alter Albert Jessup, fourteenth president of
the University of lowa, took over the duties of
the office on September 1, 1916. Born in Indiana
of Quaker ancestry In 1877, Jessup had been
brought to lowa in 1912 as Director of the School
of Education by President Bowman. W hen Edu-
cation became a College in 1913, Jessup was
named dean.

W alter Jessup had a rich educational back-
ground. He graduated from Earlham College In
1903, received an M .A. from Hanover College In
1908, and a Ph.D. from Teachers College, Co-
lumbia University in 191 1. In the spring of 1911

he became head of the College of Education at
Indiana University.

From his arrival in lowa until he became presi-
dent In 1916, Jessup pursued a vigorous career.
He was in demand as a lecturer on education. He
helped, In an advisory capacity, in administrative
school problems for Cleveland, Ohio; Los Angeles,
California; Evanston, Illinois; and Hibbing, Min-
nesota. The United States Commissioner of Edu-
cation, P. P. Claxton, asked him to investigate the
organization and administration of San Francisco
and St. Louis schools.

79
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The new president took up his duties in Sep-
tember, 1916, although his formal Inauguration
was not held until the following May. His exten-
sive travels throughout lowa, during four years as
director and dean, gave him an understanding of
lowa’s educational needs.

The new president soon came face to face with
World W ar I. The years 1917 and 1918 brought
many problems of adjustment. The Students
Army Training Corps (S.A.T.C.), replacing the
R.O.T.C., took over the campus in the fall of
1918, and confusion resulted.

W hen war was declared April 6, 1917, Presi-
dent Jessup offered the facilities of the University
to the Government. In May, leaves of absence
were granted to 13 men to enter training at Fort
Snelling. Later some 400 men, students and facul-
ty left for service. Graduation exercises were held
at Fort Snelling for lowa graduates training there.

The University economized during the winter of
1917-1918; heat was reduced and coal saved. An
lowa Patriotic League was established to arouse
patriotism in schools with the program in charge
of the Extension Division. President Jessup as-
sisted in the Liberty Loan campaigns and Virgil
M. Hancher, Senior Class President, headed the
University drive. Students purchased $104,000
iIn bonds, the faculty, $54,000. The University
gave instruction in blacksmithing, concrete work,
radio operation, auto mechanics, truck and auto



diversity faculty in the 1860's: (Left to right) Gustavus D. Hinrichs, Chemistry; Theodore
Parvin. Natural History, Librarian; D. Franklin Wells, Normal Department; Oliver M.

»pencer. President; Nathan R. Leonard, Mathematics; Charles A. Eggert, Modern Languages;
oseph T. Roberts, Philosophy and Literature.

Dexter Edson Smith
First Graduate, 1858

echanics Academy: First building used by the University, it stood on the site of East Hall-

asses met here from 1855-58. It was used later as a dormitory for men, and as the first-
»spital for the Department of Medicine.



The University in the 1890's: (Left to right) Old Medical Building; Old South Hall; Old
Capitol; Old North Hall; Old Science Building, northwest of Old North Hall. (Not shown

The University in the late 1860's: Old South Hall; Old Capitol; Old North Hall. Ornamenta
fence was used to keep out the livestock. Young trees also shown.
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embers of the Faculties—1860-1900: (Left to right, top to bottom) Harriman, Sims, Van
eenderen, Houser, Wade; Breene, Wilson, Littig, Hosford; Hayes, Patrick, Gilchrist, Boerner.
ndrews, McConnell; Newberry, Weld, McClain. President MaclLean, Currier, Veblen, Rock-
_ William Craig Wilcox, Loos, Macbride. Middleton, Calvin, Nutting, Bierring; Sham-
lugh, Dean, E. A. Wilcox, Ansley, Reeves, Whiteis, Richards.



An extraordinary feat of engineering in 1895 was the moving of Old Science Hall
from the present site of Macbride Hall to the corner of Capitol and Jefferson Streets.

The Executive Committee of the Board of Regents, 1892-93:. (Left to right) William J Had ] **
dock, secretary of the Board and the University, 1864-1902; Col Albert W. Swalm, D ~ A
.Richardson, chairman; Howard A. Burrell
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The Commencement parade of faculty and students from Old Capitol Campus to Old Armory.
William Howard Taft, then Secretary of War, was Commencement speaker here in 1907.
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S.A.T.C. company in formation in front of the Old Armory during World War I. Old Armory,

with adjacent wooden mess hall, was headquarters for this program and served as a hospital
during the flu epidemic of 1918.



PRESIDENTS AND ACTING PRESIDENTS

Dean-1855-1859 Totten-1860-1862 Spencer-1862-1867 Black-1868-1870
Thacher-1871-1877 Slagle-1877-1878 Pickard-1878-1887 Schaeffer-1887-1898
Maclean-1899-1911 Bowman-1911-1914 Macbride-1914-1916 Jessup-1916-1934
Gilmore-1934-1940 Hancher-1940-1964 Bowen-1964-1969 Boyd-1969-

Leonard-1867-1868 Currier-1898-1899 Phillips-1940



Seashore-Graduate

Houghton-Medicine

Wilcox-Lib. Arts

Rienow-Dean, Men

Dill-Museum

SOME DEANS AND DIRECTORS

Teeters-Pharmacy

Packer-Education

Kay-Lib. Arts

Dorcas-Registrar

Fitzgerald-1.M.U.

MacEwen-Medicine

Boerner-Pharmacy

Loehwing-Graduate

Higbee-Convocations

Wormer-Library

Raymond-Eng.

Breenc-Dentistry

Williarrs-Eng,

Weller-Publications

Mott-Journalism

Rutledge-Law

Burge-Dean, Women

Winter-Bus. Adm.

Lambert-Eng.

Daum-Nutrition






AN ARTIST'S VIEW OF THE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA CAMPUS— 1967



AN ARTIST'S VIEW OF THE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA CAMPUS— 1967



SOME FACULTY MEMBERS

Hush-French Prentiss-Medicine Shimek-Botany Steindler-Medicine
Loos-Economics McLain-Law Cooper-Pharmacy Stewart-Physics
Clapp-Music Nutting-Zoology Horn-Education Sloan-English

Hodine-Zoology Borawell-Law Mabie-Dram. Art Ensign-Education



Finkbine-Business

Martin-U.S. Sen.

Ingham-Publisher

Samuclson-Education

Van Alien-Physics

SOME ALUMNI AND FACULTY

Hickenlooper-U.S.Sen.

Gallagher-Law

Lundy-Industry

Corder-Nursing

Stanley-English

Gallup-Opinion Pall

Starch-Bus. Res.

Sieg-Univ. President

Lindquist-Testing

L_owden-Governor

Boyd-Finance

Stefansson-Explorer

Hall-Publisher

Davis-Univ. Provost



Baseball at Old lowa Field *h the 1890's: Spectators sat in buggies and on the ground. In the
background, on the hill, stand: (Left to right) Old Dental Building, Old Science Hall, Old
North Hall. Old Capitol. Heating Plant. Old South Hall, and Old Medical Building.

| Football at Old lowa Field Iin the 1890s: Spectators stood on both sides of the field. The
championship teams of 1900, 1921, and 1922 played here. Steel bleachers on the west and
w'ooden bleachers on the east and south, holding some 8,000 people, were built in later years.



The lowa Stadium filled with 60,000 spectators for a Homecoming game. New press box is in
the foreground. In the background are shown: gLeft to right) The baseball diamond and grand-

stand, the Fieldhouse and Armory, intermural fields, the new Pharmacy Building, water tank,
and new Hospital wings.

SOME HAWKEYE STARS OF YESTERYEAR

Duke Gordon Nile Aubrey John V
Slater Locke Kinnick '

Devine Crum



New BuU Ide) for Department of English

rv With new ac



Phillips Hall, new home of the College of Business Administration

New' Physics Building with entrance from lowa Avenue.

New additions to Zoology Building. OIld Building on the right.
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Commencement under the trees in front of Old Capitol.
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commencement exercises are held in the Fieldhouse today. Some 1,200 to 1,500 graduates
md 8.000 to 10.000 spectators attend. Deans and faculty members are seated on the platform.
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driving to 165 enlisted men. Medical students en-
listed in the Medical Reserve but stayed in school.
University women were active in the Liberty Loan
drives, Y .W .C.A. and Red Cross, knitting, and
supporting French war orphans. Speeding up the
academic program began in June, 1918.

The S.A.T.C. program, begun on October 1,
1918, was unsuccessful due to difficulties in ad-
justing its program to that of the University and
the severe influenza epidemic. The University was
quarantined and military law governed the cam-
pus. Hospitals were full. Emergency hospitals
were established in University buildings, the M a-
sonic Temple, and Elks Club. Thirty-one men and
seven nurses died.

Armistice Day, November 11, 1918, found the
Influenza epidemic abated and the S.A.T.C. pro-
gram was no longer needed. It had cost a total of
$237,374.21— of which $108,575 was paid by the
government; $128,799.21 by the University.

The war record of the University was an im-
pressive one. On the home front, in camps, and
overseas, lowa men and women acquitted them-
selves In a fitting manner. Former President
George E. MacLean was Secretary of the London
Branch of the American University in Europe.
Fifty-three faculty members were In the armed
forces; others served in the Red Cross, Y.M .C.A .,
and other organizations. Professor Stephen H.
Bush spent twenty months Iin France. He was
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American Dean of the Army Educational Corps
and was cited twice by the French for bravery.

One of the University’s heroes was Lieutenant
Fred H. Becker (Ex 19) of W aterloo, who died
In action somewhere in France on July 21, 1918.
He was an outstanding athlete in high school and
college and rated “All American in 1917. An-
other hero was Sgt. John Frank Grubb, killed in
France, November 5, 1918. A note iIn his hand
read: “They got me but I got two of them first.”

The University furnished some 1,500 men to the
various services. Forty-one were Killed.

The year, 1919, was used to return the Univer-
sity to peacetime operation. Captain Morton C.
Mumma, Military Department commandant, Pres-
ident Jessup, and the State Board of Education
succeeded In getting the General Assembly to
make an appropriation for a new Armory to re-
place the Inadequate one in use during the war. It
was built on the west side of the river after steel
prices tumbled. The Quadrangle, built during the
war with Federal and State funds as a barracks,
was taken over as a dormitory for men.

The governing body of the University during
the Jessup administration was the State Board of
Education which had been established by law in
1909. it consisted of nine members, not more than
five of which could belong to the same political
party and not more than three alumni with only
one from each institution. It had a full-time sal-
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aried Finance Committee (three members) ap-
pointed by the Board. Presidents of the Board in
Jessup's time were D. D. Murphy and George T.
Baker. Chairman of the Finance Committee
throughout was W . R. Boyd.

The relationship between President Jessup and
both the Board and Finance Committee was cor-
dial. harmonious, and cooperative. His salary was
raised to $18,000 in the mid-twenties, remaining
at that figure until the depression of the thirties.

In 1925 the General Assembly ordered a survey
of the iInstitutions under the Board of Education
and called in Dr. Samuel P. Capen, University of
Buffalo Chancellor, for consultation. He selected
President Edward C. Elliott of Purdue University
and President George F. Zook of Akron Univer-
sity to assist him. Visits were made to the institu-
tions in November, 1925. The final report was
submitted to Governor John Hammill on June 10,
1926. AIll in all it was favorable to the University
and its operations. This was true also of the
Brookings Institution survey of 1933.

President Jessup secured the best men he could
find for positions in the University and gave them
authority to produce. He constantly sought to im-
prove the salary schedule. Early in his administra-
tion. 1917, he secured William F. Russell of
Teachers College, Columbia University, as Dean
of the College of Education. W hen Russell re-
turned to Teachers College In 1922, Jessup select-
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ed Paul C. Packer as his successor. Packer was
followed by Dean E. T. Peterson. The University
became a national center for the production and
distribution of educational tests and measurements
under the supervision of Professors H. A. Greene
and E. E. Lindquist.

In the early 1920 s Dean Raymond and others
established W SU I, the first educational radio sta-
tion west of the Mississippi. Professor Carl Men-
zer of the Engineering faculty operated the station
from its beginning to his retirement in 1968.

As president of the University, Jessup tried to
keep the school in the good graces of the legis-
lators. | hrough letters, University hospitality,
Homecoming, explanation of building needs such
as the Children s Hospital and Psychopathic Hos-
pital, and close personal contacts he secured their
support. Friends of the LlIniversity rallied when
unfriendly legislation threatened.

Increased attendance during the Jessup years
helped secure needed support. The University en-
rollment increased every year from 1916 to 1931.
In 1916 it was 3,523, in 1931 the total was 9,901.
From 1931 to 1934 there was a slight decrease.

Foremost among the successful projects of the
Jessup administration was the Rockefeller gift
which enabled the University to build a modern
medical center on the west campus. President
Jessup, George T. Baker, and W . R. Boyd, assist-
ed by Abraham Flexner, secured a grant of $2,-
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250,000 from the Rockefeller Foundation and the
General Education Board with the proviso that the
sum would be matched by the State. The 40th
General Assembly held the fate of the project in
Its hands. The State Medical Society supported
the measure, as did most of the state newspapers.
The Senate passed the Dbill, 33-15, and the House,
87-17. The Dbill became law on April 4, 1923.

Following this action work began on the build-
Ings. The Medical Laboratories were occupied In
1927, the General Hospital was dedicated on
November 15, 16, 17, 1928. Thus the College of
Medicine acquired adequate space and equipment
for clinical work and research and the University
could furnish increased medical service to the
State. Space released on the east campus saved
the State at least a million dollars in construction.

Other needed expenditures were for student
housing. The Quadrangle, first dormitory for
men, was paid for by the Federal Government and
the University, and housed 300 men. It cost ap-
proximately $160,000. The 41st General Assem-
bly considered a bill to permit the Board of Educa-
tion to borrow money for dormitories and pledge
the dormitory income for repayment. This bill
passed both the Senate and the House on April
2, 1925, and was signed by the Governor.

By September 17, 1925, the Quadrangle had
been doubled iIn size to accommodate 700 men at
a cost of $150,000. This enlargement was followed
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two years later by an expansion of Currier Hall.

Salary increases for faculty and staff were con-
stant during the Jessup administration— except
during the depression years. His ability to present
the needs of the University to the Legislature was
Impressive and effective. He would explain the
needs, item by item, to the Appropriations Com-
mittee, using charts and graphs. He related the
needs to the experiences of the legislators in home-
ly, understandable terms, and won their support.

One object which Jessup desired to accomplish
eluded all his efforts— an adequate central library.
It first appeared In the proposed University budget
for 1916. The survey commission of 1916 listed
the need for a library as paramount, but war in-
terfered with any action by the Legislature. Again
In 1927, 1929, and 1931 he sought unsuccessfully
to secure funds. He tried without success to inter-
est eastern foundations in the library.

The resignation of W . J. McChesney as treas-
urer of the University was accepted on February
15, 1932, and Flave L. Hamborg was appointed
to the position. W . H. Cobb was named comptrol-
ler. The general depression of 1932-1933 resulted
iIn an economy program for the University—a 5¢c
reduction in salaries. 1 he 40th General Assembly
In 193 3 further restricted salaries and limited the
President’s salary to $10,000.

W hen Jessup became president in 1916, resi-
dences, small stores, and various buildings occu-
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pied spaces between scattered University build-
Ings outside OIld Capitol square. By 1934 many
of the residences and buildings had been acquired
for University expansion. In 1916 the area of the
campus was 42 acres; in 1934 it was 324.61 acres.
The value of the University buildings and equip-
ment in 1916 was $4,134,807.26; in 1934 it was
$18,743,342.98.

This phenomenal growth came about through
the dreams of W alter Jessup. The 37th General
Assembly provided funds to construct a new Armo-
ry, the Children’s Hospital, to preserve and fire-
proof Old Capitol, and for paving and sidewalks.
The 38th General Assembly provided funds for
the Psychopathic Hospital. Dr. Samuel T. Orton
was appointed head. Both hospitals, similar in
architecture, were built on the bluffs west of the
lowa Avenue bridge.

W hen Governor Nate Kendall broke ground
for the new Hospital and Medical Laboratories
complex west of the lowa River on June 17, 1924,
he said: As chief executive of the Common-
wealth. | offer to the ages the benefits which are to
accrue from the transcendent and humanitarian
enterprise we today inaugurate.” Dedication cere-
monies for the new General Hospital were held iIn
November, 1928.

Additional funds were secured from the 41st
General Assembly for a heating plant on the east
side of the lowa River below the dam. Steam and
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power lines to the west side were constructed In
a tunnel on the downstream side of the dam. The
greatest period of physical growth in the Jessup
administration came 1in the decade 1920-1930.
Some construction was In progress each year.

The lowa Institute of Hydraulic Research, be-
gun in 1931, became one of the foremost research
centers of its type in the world.

In 1930, the Board approved moving the Elec-
trical Engineering unit, equipped for research in
TV, to the first two floors of the old Chemistry
Building, with Engineering Drawing on the third
floor. A Mechanical Engineering laboratory was
built on the site of the old heating plant on M ad-
Ison Street.

The Chemistry-Botany-Pharmacy Building on
Capitol Street, north of Old Capitol, was built in
1923 and University Hall was erected In the Pent-
acrest group in 1924, both to alleviate crowded
conditions.

Both the 37th and the 40th General Assemblies
appropriated $50,000 each to fireproof and reha-
bilitate Old Capitol. The work was completed In
July, 1924. Administrative offices were scattered
during this much-needed program. Landscaping
of the west approach in 1925 and 1926 and the
Installation of floodlights to illuminate Old Cap-
itol added dignity and harmony to the Pentacrest.

On the west side of the lowa River the new
Fieldhouse added a "cathedral of sports to the
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campus. W ith Old lowa Field becoming obsolete,
plans for a Stadium west of the Fieldhouse and
Armory were made. Completed in 1929, the Sta-
dium provided new facilities for football. Nearby
a new baseball diamond and a new cinder track
were built. Bleachers from OIld lowa Field, de-
signed and constructed by Professor B. J. Lam-
bert, were removed and made into balconies for
basketball crowds in the Fieldhouse.

The gift of Finkbine Field— 175 acres— by the
Finkbine brothers, W . O. and E. C., announced at
commencement, June 3, 1924, made possible a first
class golf course for the LlIniversity. This land
was located west of the new Stadium, convenient
to the west side sports complex.

John M. Fisk was Superintendent of Buildings
and Grounds during this period and Professor B.
P. Fleming built the tunnel system for handling
heat and utility distribution throughout the campus.

W ith the increase of enrollment following
World W ar I, the Board took steps to alleviate
the housing problem. The inner tier, added to the
Quadrangle In 1925, an addition to Currier Hall
In 1927, and the building of Eastlawn for a nurses
home in 1928 helped relieve the housing shortage.

During this period the LliIniversity rented space
or used acquired buildings for various activities—
the basement of the Dey Building for the Exten-
sion Division, the old Kellogg School as a cooper-
ative dormitory for men, a tent city for Summer
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Session students near Kellogg School on the west
campus, and other homes as cooperative dorm-
itories for men and women.

T he Fine Arts building and later the University
Theatre on the west bank of the lowa River, a
footbridge across the river west of lowa Memorial
Union, all were a part of this general development.

Periodic crises and criticisms beset the Jessup
adm inistration, but he overcame them through the
steady support of the State Board of Education.
A few State newspapers were unfriendly to the
University, but W . Earl Hall, Mason City Gazette
editor, and many others were outspoken champions.

Efforts to abolish compulsory military training
at the University began as early as 1926. W hile
the program was defended by President Jessup
and the Board, pacifist agitation continued to
grow. Colonel Converse K. Lewis succeeded Colo-
nel Mumma on August 1, 1928, and took up the
defense of military training. The Board held hear-
Ings in Des Moines where proponents and op-
ponents were heard. On December 10, 1931, the
Board decided not to change the status quo of the
military program.

In the spring of 1927 President Jessup faced a
major crisis in the College of Medicine. Efforts
had been made to pass the W amstad bill in the
42nd (1927) and 43rd (1929) sessions of the
General Assembly. This bill would have nullified
existing laws on treatment of indigents. W\ R-
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Boyd said, “The bill would have decentralized
state medical service to the counties; greatly re-
duced the supply of clinical material; caused dupli-
cation of service facilities; Increased taxes; sacri-
ficed efficiency; and possibly destroyed the College
of Medicine.” It was a move against University
doctors having private patients and using Univer-
sity facilities. D issatisfaction with the assignment
of private patients and discontent with administra-
tive practices spearheaded the trouble in the Col-
lege of Medicine.

On May 30 the College of Medicine faculty
sent a letter to President Jessup which contained
itemized demands of nine points including more
faculty control of the College. The State Board
of Education advised that personal items be
dropped from the demands and noted that requests
for faculty control could not be granted in a tax-
supported institution. This was accepted by most
of the faculty but was opposed by some. W ith the
appointment of Dr. Henry S. Houghton as Dean
of the College and Robert E. Neff as adm inistra-
tive director of University Hospitals, the protest
quieted down.

The athletic crisis of 1929 was another major
problem. In the post-war years physical education
for men and women was under the Dean of the
College of Liberal Arts while intercollegiate ath-
letics was under the direction of a Board in Con-
trol of Athletics comprised of a representative
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from each college, appointed by President jessup,
the captains of the varsity teams, and one alumnus.
The Board conducted intercollegiate athletics in
line with W estern Conference regulations and
University policy.

Football fortunes had reached great heights
under Coach Howard Jones— Big Ten Champions
In 1921 and Co-Champions in 1922 with the Uni-
versity of Michigan. A plan was formulated to
combine Physical Education and Athletics. Coach
Jones opposed this as well as certain proposed
measures of the Board in Control of Athletics. He
resigned.

The State Board of Education approved the
proposed Division of Physical Education and A th-
letics in March, 1924, and Dr. Paul E. Belting
of the University of Illinois was appointed Direc-
tor. In early summer the Board in Control of Ath-
letics passed a resolution giving up its function as a
controlling body to become an advisory board.

The Big Ten football championship of 1921
focused attention on lowa. Alumni, it was charged,
were unduly active in aiding athletes. Coach Bert
Ingwersen and Director Belting became the targets
of alumni opposition. The Athletic Board advised
no change and endorsed the work of Belting,
Ingwersen, and Dr. W alter Fiesler, trainer.

A group of 75 alumni met in Des Moines and
organized the Federation of University Alumni.
Its aims were to get rid of Belting and Ingwersen
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and to appoint three alumni to the Athletic Board.
The State Board of Education denied this request.

Meantime the University Alumni Association
recommended that Professor Frederic G. Higbee
be appointed Executive Secretary of the Associa-
tion and that he be the alumni representative on the
Athletic Board. This was approved by President
Jessup and in October, 1928, he also added W .
Earl Hall of Mason City and Rush Butler of Chi-
cago as alumni representatives on the Athletic
Board. W ith opposition to Belting and Ingwersen
continuing, Belting offered to resign. The State
Board of Education accepted his resignation on
May 15, 1929, and approved the appointment of
Director E. H. Lauer of the Extension Division as
Director of Physical Education and George J.
Bresnahan as Director of Intercollegiate Athletics.

On May 25 Big Ten faculty representatives,
meeting at Evanston, Illinois, recommended that
lowa be suspended for improper recruiting of ath-
letes and that athletic relations should be severed
on January 1, 1930.

Major Griffith met with President Jessup and
the Athletic Board in lowa City to discuss the
charges against lowa. lowa representatives asked
for immediate consideration of all charges and the
reason for lowa’s suspension. President Jessup,
Director Lauer, and Faculty Representative Louis
Pelzer went to Chicago on June 4 to ask for lowa’s
reinstatement. The petition was denied.
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On December 11, 1929, the Board declared the
14 athletes, who had been the beneficiaries of the
alleged Belting Fund, ineligible. This had been a
main deterrent for reinstatement. Big Ten faculty
representatives visited the University in January,
1930, and on February 1, lowa was reinstated.
Lauer became Director of Physical Education and
Intercollegiate Athletics and Ossie Solem succeed-
ed Coach Ingwersen.

The Legislative investigation of the Llniversity
In 1931 was another major crisis. In the Cedar
Rapids Evening Gazette and Republican for De-
cember 21, 1930, Editor Verne M arshall attacked
President Jessup and his administration of the
University. The article stressed the athletic affair
and charged mishandling of Rockefeller funds.
George T. Baker, President of the State Board of
Education, defended the LlIniversity and the iIn-
vestment of the Rockefeller gift.

On January 24, 1931, Governor Dan Turner
sent a message to the 44th General Assembly ask-
iIng for an investigation of the University. The
Senate and House passed resolutions setting up an
Investigating committee of five Republicans and
one Democrat: Senate— H. B. Carroll, W . S.
Baird, L. H. Doran; House— Byron G. Allen, F.
C. Byers (Llniversity alumnus), G. E. Miller. The
committee selected Carroll as Chairman and Allen
as Vice Chairman. A court reporter was secured.
Dennis Kelleher, Fort Dodge, was selected as
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chief counsel, assisted by the Attorney General s
office. The State Board of Education retained
Emmett Tinley of Council Bluffs and Henry
W alker of lowa City as counsel. The investiga-
tion began February 23, 1931.

Public hearings began before a large audience
INn Des Moines with Verne Marshall presenting
and explaining his twenty-one charges covering
alleged misuse of Rockefeller funds, improper
acts of University officials, real estate purchases,
misuse of University property and labor, athletic
and medical items, and others. Meetings were held
In Des Moines and in the Senate Chamber of Old
Capitol in lowa City. The final session was held
on April 11, 1931.

A majority report of the Comm ittee exonerated
accused University personnel, but condemned
some University practices. A minority report was
more favorable to the University. A Phi Delta
Kappa Epsilon Bulletin report gave a complete
summary of the iInvestigation, with conclusions
favorable to the University. A Vindication Ban-
quet was held in lowa City April 27, 1931, with
some 600 In attendance. Cost of the Investigation,
$19,413.02, was paid for by the General Assembly.

W fien W alter A. Jessup became president in
1916 the administration of student affairs was in
the hands of Robert E. Rienow, Dean of Men, and
Anna M. Klingenhagen, Dean of W Wien. In
1918, Dean Nellie S. Aurner replaced her. She,
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In turn, was followed by Adelaide L. Burge, who,
In 1921, began a long career In this position.

As the College of Medicine expanded the stu-
dent health program became coordinated and en-
larged. Student self-government made little prog-
ress due to student iInertia. The administration
tolerated student groups, but did not consider
change necessary or desirable.

The literary societies for men and women which
furnished outlets for talent in music, art, debate,
oratory and dramatics, came to an end during the
later years of the Jessup administration. At this
time fraternities and sororities engaged in lavish
building programs. W hen Jessup became president
In 1916 there were 15 social fraternities, 10 sorori-
ties, 10 professional, and 6 honorary fraternities.
W hen he resigned in 1933 there were 20 social
fraternities, 16 sororities, 12 professional, and 6
honorary fraternities. M any were In financial dif-
ficulties due to rising cost of board and room,
parties, and building costs.

The University Lecture series, presided over
with flair by Professor Benjamin F. Shambaugh,
was augmented by noted speakers brought to
lowa City by the Times Club.

Student capers and escapades occurred from
time-to-time. Fads and fancies came and went.
Green caps for Freshmen lasted a few years. Law
students carried canes and Dental students adopted
the derby as a distinctive garb; engineers wore
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corduroy shirts and straw hats for MECCA
Week. AIll added a bit of color to campus life but
each In time was abandoned. Students passed
through the *“Jazz age of the twenties to a more
sober frame of mind in the thirties. Frivolity gave
way to a struggle for an education during the de-
pression.

Throughout the eighteen years of President
Jessup’s tenure he encouraged loyalty to the Uni-
versity on the part of alumni through attendance
at Homecoming, Dad s Day, Mothers Day,
Foundation Day meetings, and Commencement.
Radio Station WASUI carried campus news to
listeners over a large area. The annual University
Dinner for male campus leaders and another for
women, both underwritten by W . P. Finkbine and
Carl Kuehnle, later by Finkbine alone, deepened
the loyalty of all participants. A.F.I. (AIll for
lowa), an organization of senior men, and M ortar
Board for women, also intensified loyalty.

The hard work of President Jessup and the
activities of a faithful faculty brought many gen-
erous gifts to the University during this period.
These included the lowa Lakeside Laboratory at
Lake Okoboji—a gift of alumni; the Rockefeller
gift for the Medical complex; the Laura Spellman
Rockefeller gift for the lowa Child W elfare Re-
search Station; the Carnegie Corporation gift for
the Fine Arts Building; the Rockefeller gift for
the University Theatre; and the money pledged
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for the lowa Memorial Union by alumni and
friends. Other gifts included books, museum items,
portraits, and busts of University professors and
presidents. The School of Religion, University
departments, and professional colleges received
thousands of dollars from foundations, industry,
government, and research organizations.

Although earlier attempts to establish a Student
Union had failed, the idea was kept alive during
World W ar |I. The Class of 1917 pledged $25,000
over a period of years to get the project started.
President Jessup, in his Foundation Day address
for 1919, advocated the erection of a student me-
morial union. The graduating class of 1919 con-
tributed a $1,000 bond to the cause. An organiza-
tion was formed to promote the project. Drives
for funds, some successful, others less so, secured
pledges for $606,000 toward the goal of $1,000,-
000 by June, 1924. The first section of the lowa
Memorial Union was dedicated on February 6,
1926, with R. H. Fitzgerald as Director. Faculty
men used a section of the Union for the Triangle
Club and their wives and faculty women had
quarters for the University Club. The famous
Triangle Club suppers, for faculty members and
their wives, were held here monthly. The Union
under Fitzgerald and his successor, Earl E. Har-
per, has served its purpose well, a fitting me-
morial to the lowa men and women it commemo-
rates.
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The period from 1916 to 1934 was one in which
certain academic units at the University experi-
enced great expansion. The Department of Jour-
nalism became the School of Journalism. In
March. 1927. Professor C. H. Weller, the first
Director, died and was succeeded by Frank Luth-
er Mott. Fred M. Pownall, Director of Publica-
tions, started the lowa News-Bulletin in 1924
which was sent free to all alumni. The School of
Religion was another unit started during the Jes-
sup administration with M. W illard Lampe as
Director. A Bureau of Business and Economic
Research was set up in the College of Commerce.
A School of Fine Arts, including Music, Graphic
and Plastic Arts, History of Fine Arts, and Dra-
matic Arts, was established in the fall of 1929
with R. H. Fitzgerald as Director. Upon his de-
parture, Earl E. Harper became his successor.

The Department of Dramatic Arts under Pro-
fessor E. C. Mabie, the Department of Music
under Professor Philip Greeley Clapp, and the
Department of Fine Arts under Professor Lester
D. Longman became famous for their achieve-
ments. Grant Wood joined the Arts staff in 1934.
The cornerstone of the Fine Arts Building was
laid on June 2, 1934.

The standard Liberal Arts course was revised
In 1928, and a School of Letters, under Professor
Norman Foerster was established in 1930. Pro-
fessor Benjamin F. Shambaugh, Department of
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Political Science, introduced the Campus Course,
an overview of learning; the Museum was sep-
arated from the Department of Zoology and made
Into a department of its own; and Philosophy was
separated from Psychology. New courses were
Introduced into other departments.

Perhaps President Jessup’s most significant con-
tributions to the University, while President, were
his administrative leadership and his force as a
m aster builder.

He resigned on December 12, 1933, to accept
the presidency of the Carnegie Foundation for the
Advancement of Teaching and later the double
role as President of the Carnegie Corporation.
His resignation to take effect July 1, 1934, was
accepted reluctantly by the Board of Education
and he was given the title of President Emeritus.

On July 5, 1944, W alter Jessup was found dead
In his room in New York City. A special convo-
cation was held in the lowa Memorial Union on
July 14 to pay tribute to his memory and to me-
morialize his contributions to the University, the
State, and the Nation. His ashes were buried In
the lowa City cemetery on a high hill overlooking
the city and the University he loved so well.



The Gilmore Period —1934-1940

Eugene A. Gilmore, Dean of the College of
Law, was President of the University from 1934
to 1940. His administration covered six years be-
tween W alter A. Jessup’s period of eighteen years
and Virgil M. Hancher’s tenure of twenty-four.

On April 30, 1934, the lowa State Board of Ed-
ucation announced that Eugene A. Gilmore would
become acting president on July 1. At the June
meeting of the Board, the appointment of Gilmore
was made permanent.

The new president was called upon to serve In
years of economic stress. Depression was spreading
throughout the land. On Gilmore fell the responsi-
bility not only of maintaining the University as a
first class institution, but struggling to recover the
lost measure of state support. The University held
Its own during this period. The record of achieve-
ment Is positive in respect to financial recovery,
retention and addition of key men, educational im-
provement, advancement of knowledge, and con-
sideration for the moral and physical welfare of
the student body. Gilmore was the leader who
guided the University along the road to recovery.

The new president brought to his office an ex-
cellent educational background and an abundance

101
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of administrative experience. For twenty years
he had served on the University of Wisconsin
College of Law faculty. He had traveled widely.
He had served as Vice Governor of the Philippine
Islands for eight years and as Acting Governor
General for fifteen months. During this period he
was Secretary of Public Instruction and a member
of the Board of Regents of Philippine University.
He was a man of rich background and broad ex-
perience.

At his inauguration, addresses were made by
former Presidents John Gabbert Bowman and
W alter A. Jessup, and a message from George E.
MacLean was read. The momentum of the Jessup
administration continued.

President Gilmore lost no time in working on
the University budget. He asked for increases in
1935 and 19 37 and received some gains each time,
but restoration of funds was slow and painful. The
Increases were used to restore salaries. Gilmore s
long experience with the Wisconsin Legislature
and the Philippine Legislature helped him in his
contacts with the lowa General Assembly.

Requests for 1939 included $300,000 for a new
library, but it was deferred to enable lowa State
College to secure an appropriation to restore the
Women’s Gymnasium at Ames which had been
destroyed by fire. The appropriation for 1939 was
$577,000 more than it was when Gilmore took of-
fice and within $37,000 of the amount received in
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1931-1932. From 1934 to 1939 the value of the
University plant increased from $18,735,971.98 to
$21,994,365.14— a total of $3,258,393.16. This
was a remarkable achievement in the face of na-
tionwide economic stress, two years of drought,
and the reluctance of the Legislature to appropri-
ate funds for capital improvements. During this
period, $165,426.36 was received from the Carne-
gie Corporation and the Rockefeller Foundation
for the Fine Arts and Theatre Buildings. The
Radio Educational Building was another addition
to the campus and the Law Commons was built
with Federal funds.

During the Gilmore administration advances
were made in nuclear physics, radio education, ex-
tension projects, child welfare, as well as Liberal
Arts curriculum changes. He appointed six college
deans, a director, and the heads of many impor-
tant departments. These included, in his first year,
deans In the Colleges of Law and Medicine. In
his second year he appointed deans in the Colleges
of Pharmacy and Engineering, and in the Gradu-
ate College. He also named a Director of the
School of Fine Arts and lowa Memorial Union,
and a new University Examiner and Registrar.
Two Commandants of Military Science and Tac-
tics served during his term of office. One of the
deans, Wiley B. Rutledge, College of Law, was
elevated to the United States Supreme Court.
Dean George D. Stoddard, Graduate College, be-
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came Commissioner of Education for the State of
New York and later President of the University
of Illinois. New department heads included Psy-
chology, Botany, Chemistry, Home Economics,
Pharmacology, Anatomy, Surgery, Bacteriology,
Fine Arts, Dermatology, and German. In 1939 an
attempt to abolish the College of Engineering by
the Legislature was blocked by Dean Francis M.
Dawson, faculty, students and alumni.

An atom smasher added to the equipment of
the Department of Physics, the discovery of Vita-
min K, progress in the control of dental caries, a
new studio and a transmitter, with power raised
from 500 to 5,000 watts, for WSLII, progress iIn
Fine Arts, Music, and Drama, were noteworthy
accomplishments of the Gilmore administration.

During this period a study and report by Sam-
uel P. Capen, Chancellor of Buffalo University,
for the State Board of Education indicated some
overlapping iIn programs of the three institutions
of higher education. He recommended that the en-
rollment in Engineering be limited to 500 students
and that graduate work In Home Economics be
confined to nutrition and child welfare. The State
Board accepted his recommendations. An agree-
ment In Journalism training was also reached
whereby lowa State College would confine its
work to training in technical journalism.

Among other accomplishments of President Gil-
more were his defense of academic freedom for the



THE GILMORE PERIOD 105

faculty, sympathetic concern for the needs of stu-
dents, the expansion of self help, increased dormi-
tory facilities, and the support of religious activi-
ties on the campus. He took strong disciplinary
action when a campus group was found guilty of
criminal behavior.

Attendance at the University during the Gil-
more administration saw a steady increase from
8,369 in 1934 to 9,084 in 1940. Efforts were made
to assist new students In an orientation program
during Freshman W eek which included lectures,
motion pictures of campus life, aptitude tests, mix-
ers, and dances. During the year many campus
activities were available to students— dances to
name bands at lowa Memorial Union, programs
by student organizations, a University lecture
series with famous name speakers, athletic events.

Spectacular football victories under Coach Ed-
die Anderson in 1939-1940 triggered after-game
celebrations, some of which got out of hand. The
Silver Shadow, a dry night club on the ground
floor of lowa Memorial Union had the atmosphere
of a metropolitan night club with a floor show, a
meal, and dinner dancing. No liquor was served
and prices were reasonable. It was a student enter-
prise of great success and won national and inter-
national attention. It operated for four years.

Fraternities and sororities had no easy time
during this period: they were bothered by finan-
cial problems, fell behind iIn taxes, and In pay-
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ments on new homes. Nevertheless, they ranked
second In grade point average; dormitory men
were highest. President Gilmore approved fra-
ternities and sororities and helped their cause.

Many students had to work, and a cooperative
housing system was established. There were six
cooperatives for men including Jefferson House,
the Manse, W hetstone House, Kellogg, Wilson,
and one other; three for women— Tudor Cottage,
Russell House, and Breene House. Room and
board cost $15 per month with all members work-
Ing together to keep expenses down.

Housing for negroes and foreign students was
solved by securing homes for negro men and
women and through an International House for
foreign students provided by Professor George
W . Stewart and his wife. Dr. Zella W hite
Stewart.

Students on the campus could exercise their re-
ligious needs by membership in such organizations
as the Newman Club (Catholic), the Hillel Club
(Jewish), the Negro Forum, Roger Williams
Club (Baptist), Christian Student Group, Con-
gregational Student Group, Episcopalian Student
Group, Wesley Foundation (Methodist), and
student associations of the English Lutheran, St.
Paul’s Lutheran, and Zion Lutheran churches, the
W estminster Fellowship (Presbyterian), the
Fireside Club, and Student Group of the Re-
formed Church. Station W SU I opened its days
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program with Morning Chapel.” Parents could
send their children to the University confident of
the religious opportunities headed by the School
of Religion.

Certain curricular developments between 1934
and 1940 received wide attention. One of these
was the Marriage Course to which several de-
partments contributed; another was the ’'Campus
Course, a synthesis of learning, originated earlier
by Professor Benjamin F. Shambaugh. The Amer-
ican Civilization program, sponsored by the
School of Letters and the Department of History,
attained national recognition. The W riters W ork-
shop. begun In the Jessup administration, reached
full development in this period under Director
W ilbur Schramm. Well-known authors served on
the staff including Robert Frost, Ruth Suckow,
Eric Knight, and W allace Stegner.

The developing arts program at the University
had been called by James O Donnell Bennett of
the Chicago Tribune “Culture in a cornfield.” In
1938, Earl E. Harper, formerly president of Simp-
son College, became Director of the School of Fine
Arts and lowa Memorial Union. He and Profes-
sor Longman, head of the Department of Art, uni-
fied the art offerings and gave new impetus to the
program. A Festival of Fine Arts, launched In
the summer of 1939, brought Lawrence Tibbett
and Frank Lloyd Wright to the campus. The
Festival included a production of Ellsworth P.
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Conkle’s play, “Paul and the Blue O x,*“ and an Art
Exhibition of 12 paintings by Grant Wood and 17
by Marvin Cone. A concert by the University
Symphony Orchestra, directed by Philip Greeley
Clapp, was an outstanding feature of the Festival.
This was the beginning of a long series of Sum-
mer Fine Arts Festivals.

President Gilmore, who had reached the retire-
ment age of 68 for adm inistrative officials, tender-
ed his resignation on December 30, 1939, to be-
come effective July 1, 1940. The State Board of
Education accepted it and Gilmore returned to his
professorship in the College of Law. From 1940-
1942 he was given a leave of absence to serve as
Dean of the College of Law at the Lliniversity of
Pittsburgh and to reorganize the school. His ad-
ministration at the LlIniversity of lowa was char-
acterized by capable stewardship, moral courage,
and great common sense.

State University of lowa Governing Boards

1847-1870 . . Board of Trustees
1870-1909 L Board of Regents
1909-1955 . . Board of Education

1955- L. Board of Regents



The Hancher Years— 1940-1964

On July 13, 1940, the State Board of Education
named Chester A. Phillips, Dean of the College of
Commerce, as Acting President of the University
In recognition of twenty years faithful service.
Phillips administered University affairs with fidel-
ity and efficiency, and returned to his post as Dean
following Virgil M. Handler's assumption of the
presidency on November 2, 1940.

Virgil Melvin Hancher was selected as Presi-
dent by the Board of Education on August 28,
1940. A Pocahontas County boy from Rolfe,
Hancher entered the University in 1914 where he
was active In debate and oratory. He joined the
Zetagathian Literary Society, Sigma Nu Fraterni-
ty, was elected president of the senior class and to
A.F.lI. (All for lowa). During World W ar | he
was on active duty with the Naval Reserve. He
was selected as a Rhodes scholar from lowa and
traveled widely in Europe. Returning to the Uni-
versity, he entered the College of Law and re-
ceived his degree in 1924.

For the next sixteen years Hancher practiced
law in Chicago. On November 2, 1940, he began
his long career as President of the University of
lowa, the longest of any president to date.

109
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The sneak attack on Pearl Harbor by the Japa-
nese on Sunday, December 7, 1941, rocked the
campus. Although he had been in charge of the
University only a little over a year, President
Hancher took command of the situation with a
sure and firm hand. The wartime survival of the
University received his deep consideration and

sustained attention.
He offered the resources of the University to the

government, and adapted the schedule and curricu-

lum to a wartime pace. The following principles
were to be In force for the duration of the war,

beginning with the 1942-1943 academic year:

1. Full-time continuous use of facilities and personnel.
2. Maintenance of normal standards of achievement.
3. Lengthened academic year— three sessions for 1942-

1943.
4. Calendar time reduced for completion of a given

curriculum.
5. Flexibility of curriculum to meet wartime needs.

6. Special guidance concerning military service and
preparation for specialized services.

7. Students called to military service during the semes-
ter to be given proportional credit and tuition refunds
within reasonable limits.

8. Students and faculty to be stimulated to a conscious-
ness of their duties and responsibilities.

9. New courses to meet special needs such as electron-
ics, chemistry of explosives, navigational astronomy, bal-
listics, and others.

10. Normal program for emergency training and long
time educational needs.
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11. Increased cooperation with National government
by intensifying R.O.T.C. training and by sponsoring
adult education courses in Engineering Science and Man-
agement Defense training, aeronautics for civilian pilots,
training of aviation cadets, and in special research projects.

Early In 1942 University officials, headed by
President Hancher, and representatives of the
Navy worked out an agreement by which a Navy
Pre-Flight School would be established on the
campus. On April 6, 1942, the United States
Government entered into a contract with the lowa
State Board of Education for use of two dormi-
tories and partial use of the Fieldhouse and ad-
jacent drill ground areas. On April 15, the Navy
commissioned in dramatic ceremonies the first of
four (later five) pre-flight bases.

By 1943 the Navy Pre-Flight School numbered
some 2,500 cadets In each training course. Four
such courses were staggered throughout the year.
Some 8,000 cadets were given pre-flight training
each full year. The permanent staff consisted of
175 officers and 150 enlisted men.

Cadets were housed and fed in Hillcrest and
the Quadrangle. Training and instructional pro-
grams were handled in the Fieldhouse and in a
newly constructed building, South Hall, which also
furnished quarters and offices for the Navy staff.

Official relations between University admin-
Istration and Pre-Flight officers were carried out
with a minimum of friction.
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By 1943 the University was functioning as an
arsenal of education in a wartime training situ-
ation. Hundreds of students and alumni were iIn
the armed forces. Many of the faculty had donned
the uniform or entered into war work or govern-
ment service. W ar research projects were under
way iIn libraries and laboratories. Navy and Army
programs gave the campus a military aspect.

The University also participated in the W ar
Training Service feature of the Naval Awviation
Training program. Some 90 students were given
elementary flight instruction under University
auspices. By June, 1944, over 500 individuals had
received this training. These students were housed
at the Burkley Hotel, fed at the lowa Memorial
Union, given flight instruction at the lowa City
Airport, and received theoretical training at the
College of Engineering.

Late in 1942 the LliIniversity entered 1iInto an
Army Air Corps Pre-Meteorological program.
This was staffed by regular members of the Uni-
versity faculty on a half-time basis.

Another Army program began March 15, 1943.
Some 200 men were housed in the Law Commons
while classes were held in Schaeffer Hall. Uni-
versity Hall, and the Mathematics-Physics Build-
ing. In May, the Army B program of this series
was activated. This group was housed In East
Hall, fed at the lowa Memorial Union, and at-
tended classes In Liniversity buildings. The aca-
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demic program was taught by University person-
nel with an Army Air Force major in command.

An Army Specialized Training Program (A.S.
T.P.) was started on May 10, 1943, for some 420
basic engineers under the military control of the
University s R.O.T.C. staff. The engineers were
housed In fraternity houses leased for the purpose,
and the lowa Memorial Union served as a mess
center. University faculty members conducted
courses Iin mathematics, physics, chemistry, Eng-
lish, history, and geography.

Between July, 1942, and June, 1944, the Uni-
versity trained or had in training army and navy
personnel as follows:

Navy Pre-Flight 15,399
Medical (Army and Navy) 291
Dental (Army and Navy) 130
A.S.T.P. 2,144
Training Service (Navy) 507
Total 18,471

A total of 36,357 military personnel had some
part of their educational or military training at the
University. In 1944, when the training program
was at iIts peak, the University reserved for its
students only one large dormitory— Currier Hall
— for 566 women, and five co-operative residences
reserved for 118 women.

Several University faculty members made spe-
cial contributions to the war effort: Alexander EI-
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lett, secret defense projects; Dean Francis M.
Dawson and James A. Jacobs, V. T. fuse; C. H.
McCloy, physical education; Dewey B. Stuit, psy-
chology; Don Lewis, army; Goldwin Smith, Ross
Livingston, George Cuttino, Army 1in Europe;
John Haefner and R. W . Crary, Navy Pacific
area; J. J. Runner, Geographical Survey; Allen C.
Tester, engineers; J. Milton Cowan, languages;
Wilbur L. Schramm, Office of Facts and Figures;
Herbert O. Lyte, German language; George
Glockler, consultant, W ar Board; George H.
Coleman, National Defense Research; Lothrop
Smith, Manhattan District Project; Paul C. Pack-
er and E. T. Peterson, University courses in
France and England; and others.

The war years affected every aspect of Univer-
sity life— student affairs, financial support, the
curriculum, and public service. During these years
the University moved to a more efficient and a
more democratic operation.

At the request of the Federal Security Agency
and the United States Office of Education, the
University set up a Key Center for War Infor-
mation with the Extension Division, the Depart-
ment of Speech, and W ar Information Committee
cooperating. Information about the war was dis-
tributed through press, radio, lectures, and pam-
phlets. The University, through concerts, plays,
art exhibits, lectures, sports events, and confer-
ences, entertained and enlightened the public.
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In the spring of 1942, President Hancher
merged the offices of Dean of Men, Dean of
Women, and the Employment Service to provide
unity and effect economies. In July, 1942, the
three agencies were united as the Office of Stu-
dent Affairs under the directorship of Professor
C. Woody Thompson. As Dean of Students and
Director of Student Affairs, Professor Thompson
and his staff handled student problems, made as-
signments to dormitories through Student Hous-
Ing Service, and provided inspection and approval
for quarters rented to students. A committee on
Student Aid, composed of members of the Office
of Student Affairs, the University Treasurer, and
the University Comptroller, administered loans
and grants to students iIn cooperation with the
Manager of Student Placement. An advisor to
foreign students was in charge of social programs,
housing, and personal problems of these students.

Complementing the work of the Office of Stu-
dent Affairs was the Office of Veterans Service
In charge of Professor William D. Coder as Di-
rector. Under the G. I. Bill of Rights the influx of
veterans became heavy in 1945-1946. This Bill
provided (1) financial support to veterans in pro-
portion to length of service; (2) tuition and sup-
plies not to exceed $500 per year; and (3) sub-
sistence allowance, at first of $50 per month for
single and $75 per month for married men, later
$65 for single and $90 for married veterans.
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This influx created a housing shortage in lowa
City. Trailer and barrack communities were estab-
lished: one along the lowa River west of the
Library Annex, another north of the Dramatic
Arts Building, and others on the west campus.
The LlIniversity bulged with veterans and their
wives. These students, eager to pursue their edu-
cation, brought a feeling of stability and educa-
tional motivation to the campus.

Agitation for student government received the
approval of President Hancher and Dean Thomp-
son. A student council was organized.

During the first five years of the Hancher ad-
ministration financial support was influenced by
war conditions. While demands of the war years
Imposed burdens, Navy and Army contracts
helped. Support increased from $3,439,869.72 for
1941 to $4,362,766.39 for 1944. Although tuition
declined the loss was made up by increased state
support and service contracts.

During the war and afterwards the Llniversity
kept its contacts with the citizens of the state.
Football and basketball games drew large crowds.
Radio Station WSLII reached a large audience.
The Extension Division reached thousands
through correspondence courses, bulletins, confer-
ences and institutes, and high school events. An-
nually over 12,000 persons visited the campus for
conferences and institutes. Some 7,000 high
school musicians participated In State Music con-
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tests, and the State Scholarship contest (popu-
larly called the lowa Brain Derby) brought in
1,200 high school students for examinations and
an award dinner. High school speech contests
and drama festivals brought hundreds of students
and adults to the campus. An annual conference
on child development and parent education, spon-
sored by the lowa Child Welfare Research Sta-
tion and the Extension Division, drew several
hundred parents for study and discussion. The
University of lowa Speech Clinic, with such men as
James F. Curtis and Wendell Johnson, attracted
national attention. A new building on the west
campus is named for Johnson.

On June 30, 1945, Dean Harry K. Newburn
of the College of Liberal Arts left to become Pres-
iIdent of the University of Oregon, joining the
ranks of 22 other University alumni who were
presidents of universities or colleges at that time.
He was succeeded by Earl J. McGrath of Buffalo
University, an active leader in general education.
Dean Emeritus C. E. Seashore emerged from re-
tirement to fill the position he held for so long.
At the end of 1946 Professor George W . Stew-
art, distinguished head of the Physics Department
for 37 years, retired and was succeeded by Louis
A. Turner, a noted nuclear physicist of Prince-
ton University. Dean Paul C. Packer of the Col-
lege of Education became Chancellor of the Ore-
gon System of Higher Education.
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On February 25, 1947, the State University of
lowa concluded 1its first 100 years of service to
the State and Nation.

One of the significant achievements of the
Hancher administration was the study and revi-
sion of the Liberal Arts curriculum. 1In 1942, when
Dean Newburn had been in office less than six
months, a steering committee and subcommittee
for subject matter areas were appointed to study
and present a curriculum report. After months of
work the reports were made. Professors Norman
Foerster, Director of the School of Letters, and
Professor E. B. Reuter, Head of the Sociology
Department, led the opposition. On April 5 1944,
In a stormy session the Faculty of the College of
Liberal Arts approved the new curricular program
by a vote of 108-50. Professors Foerster and
Reuter resigned and left the University. The an-
nouncement of the revised Liberal Arts program
evoked nationwide interest and response.

During the Gilmore and Hancher administra-
tions progress was registered for the faculty in
academic freedom, tenure, retirement, sick leave,
leave of absence, sabbatical leave, and general
organization. In 1939 the State Board of Educa-
tion accepted President Gilmore s proposals on
tenure. Instructors were to hold their appoint-
ments on an annual basis, assistant professors, for
three years on a renewable footing, while faculty
members with academic rank of associate profes
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sor or above were to be appointed tor an indefinite
tenure. This arrangement became effective on
July 1, 1939.

Plans for selecting and appointing new faculty
members were developed with the cooperation of
department heads, deans, other administrative of-
ficers, as well as the approval of fellow members
of a department. Age, teaching competence, mem-
bership In learned societies, marital and family
status, written recommendations, education, ex-
perience, manners and habits, health, nationality,
and publications were factors to be considered.

No well-defined policy for leaves of absence
existed but the war forced decisions. There was
no established plan for sabbatical leaves, but a
policy of granting time for study and research was
substituted under Hancher. Standards for promo-
tion included teaching ability and research.

Before 1944, the University of lowa had no
definite retirement plan. Under the old system
each case was dealt with on its merits. In 1944
lowa was the only Big Ten school without a fund-
ed retirement plan. In May, 1944, President
Hancher announced the adoption of a funded re-
tirement program through the Teachers Insurance
and Annuity Association of America.

Under Presidents Gilmore and Hancher two
organizations conducted faculty business. The
Senate of the State University of lowa consisted
of the President, Deans, Registrar, Librarian, Di-
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rector (later Dean) of Extension, the full profes-
sors, and heads of departments. This group met
irregularly at the call of the President. Its prin-
cipal activities were carried on by 21 standing
committees. The Faculty of the College of Liberal
Arts met regularly on the second Wednesday in
October and March. It discussed problems relating
to curriculum, requirements for entrance or grad-
uation, study of problems relating to legislation,
and broader educational issues. There were eight
standing committees.

Restoration of faculty salaries faced both Presi-
dents Gilmore and Hancher and under each sub-
stantial progress was made. lowa, however, lag-
ged behind other Big Ten schools. During the
Hancher administration efforts were made, with
considerable success, to bring University salaries
up to third place in the Big Ten.

Faculty achievements during these years were
noteworthy. Of one thousand scientists listed <n

American Men of Science in 1938, thirteen were

Liniversity of lowa men:

Professor Edward Bartow— head. Department of Chem-
Istry

Professor Joseph H. Bodine— head. Department of Zoology

Professor Edward Chittenden— Department of Mathe-

matics
Professor Alexander Ellett— Department of Physics

Professor Gilbert Hauser— Department of Zoology
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Dean George F. Kay— former head, Department of Ge-
ology

Professor Kurt Lewin— lowa Child Welfare Research
Station

Professor Henry L. Rietz— head. Department of Mathe-
matics

Dean Carl E. Seashore— former head, Department of Psy-
chology

Professor George W . Stewart— head, Department of
Physics

Professor Arthur C. Trowbridge— head, Department of
Geology

Professor Emil Wrtchi— Department of Zoology
Professor Robert B. Wylie— head, Department of Botany

Professor Frank L. Mott, Director of the School
of Journalism, was a Pulitzer prize winner in His-
tory for his three volumes of A History of Ameri-
can Magazines. Paul Engle won the $1,000 prize
of the Friends for American Writers in 1941.
Lester D. Longman, head of the Department of
Art, was editor of Parnassus, a national art mag-
azine. Professor Louis Pelzer, History Depart-
ment, became editor of the Mississippi Valley
Historical Review in 1941.

President Hancher began to work for a library
appropriation soon after he took office. He as-
sembled convincing evidence to support his re-
quest. In view of the critical need, the University
sought an appropriation of $500,000 from the

49th General Assembly for the first unit of a Li-
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brary. This was trimmed to $300,000 by the Leg-
Islature and passed. But the war intervened and
the building was delayed. In 1945, the Universi-
ty secured another appropriation of $1,000,000
and the long-needed Library was begun.

At the same time plans were developed for a
Communications Center to house Journalism, Vis-
ual Education, and Television. Journalism had
used parts of four buildings after Close Hall was
damaged by fire. An appropriation of $515,000
by the 51st General Assembly in 1945 assured the
Journalism unit.

Among the crises faced by President Hancher,
one of the worst threatened the strength and sta-
bility of the College of Medicine. His solution
was contained in the lowa Plan for Medical Com-
pensation which established a pattern of public-
private payment of Medical staff members now
followed as standard procedure by many univer-
sities. Under Dean Robert C. Hardin and staff of
the College of Medicine additions and alterations
were made to the Medical plant; and a “Graduate
Program in Hospital and Health Administration
was introduced by Director Gerhard Hartman.

New University agencies established during his
administration included a Center for Labor and
Management in the College of Business Adminis-
tration, the Agricultural Law Center in the Col-
lege of Law, the Institute of Agricultural Medi-
cine in the College of Medicine under Dr. Frank-
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lin H. Top, the Institute of Public Affairs under
Robert F. Ray, and the School of Social Work—
all of special benefit to lowa.

An accomplishment in which President Handl-
er took pride was acquisition of land west of the
campus for future expansion. The purchase of a
site for the new Finkbine Golf Course, considered
by some as a luxury, gave the University an area
more than twice the size of the campus in 1940.

During the Gilmore and Hancher periods ath-
letics flourished and the debt on the Fieldhouse
and Stadium was liguidated. Money was left for
needed improvements on the athletic plant. The
winning football teams of Coach Eddie Anderson,
1939-1940, with the famous “lronmen,“ started
the upward swing. Then came the fabulous peri-
od under Coach Forest Evashevski with Big Ten
championships in 1957, 1958, and a tie in 1960.
Trips to the Rose Bowl In 1957 and 1959 with
victories over Oregon State and California focused
the spotlight on lowa. During the same period,
Big Ten championships in basketball, baseball,
gymnastics, tennis, wrestling, and track were
greatly enjoyed by lowa fans.

President Hancher may be remembered in years
to come for his “One University for lowa Plan
as much as for his 24 years of service. At a meet-
Ing of the Service Clubs of lowa City and Coral-
ville, June 29, 1964, he proposed consolidation of
the three universities into one under the Board of
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Regents; that the University of lowa be designat-
ed as a Land Grant University to share with lowa
State in the benefits from such a status; and that
one president would preside over the three insti-
tutions. No action was taken on his suggestion.

W hen Virgil M. Hancher returned to lowa
City in 1940 he had had no previous experience
In educational administration. But he possessed
three Important assets: an innate understanding
of what a LlIniversity iIs. a deep affection for that
which was his own, and a native s sense of the
lowa way of doing things.

He had his share of the problems, coming to
lowa at a time of national crisis when enrollment
was dropping and progress was stalled. His goals
— to accomplish a more realistic pride Iin the Uni-
versity and to merit new support from the people
of lowa and others— guided his actions.

Handler's leadership accomplished much. En-
rollment at the LlIniversity in 1940 was 6,667, In
1961 it reached over 11,000. In 1960 the campus
had tripled the size of the 1940 campus. At the
same time the University staff had doubled, and
there was more than a fivefold increase in the pay-
roll. Research grants had multiplied 34 times. The
Liniversity had grown from an $8.5 million enter-
prise in 1940 to one of $48 million in 1960.

In the 1950's extensive repairs were made at the
lowa Lakeside Laboratory under the direction of
Professor J. H. Bodine and Dean Bruce E. M a-
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han. A new building, Mahan Hall, was used for
lectures, conferences, and public meetings.

By the end of the Summer Session in August,
1961, President Hancher had conferred more than
one-half the degrees awarded to graduating stu-
dents In the 114-year history of the University.

An outstanding event was the dedication of a
new College of Law Building on April 6, 7, 1962,
under the direction of Dean Mason Ladd. Chief
Justice Earl W arren of the United States Supreme
Court was the principal speaker. Bulilt on the
bluff west of the Fine Arts Building, the new
structure furnished needed classrooms and library
space. The former Law Commons adjoining pro-
vided offices for the faculty and seminar rooms.

The College of Pharmacy occupied 1Iits new
building north of the Fieldhouse in the summer of
1963. It provided much needed space and new
facilities. Under former Deans Wilber J. Teeters,
Rudolph A. Kuever, and the present Dean, Louis
C. Zopf, the College has attained high rank.

During this period Loren L. Hickerson and
Joseph W . Meyer, alumni executives, reorganized
the Alumni Association and set up the University
of lowa Foundation to receive gifts and bequests.
Money from the Foundation was used to support
research and other campus projects.

During his administration President Hancher
became a figure of national and international re-
nown. He has been described as “an educator of
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discerning judgment, of enduring patience, and of
effective action.” He was twice awarded the
George Washington Honor Medal for outstand-
iIng scholarly writing by Freedoms Foundation.

Hancher served as Chairman of the American
Council on Education; as President of the Nation-
al Association of State Universities; and as Vice
President of the Association of American Univer-
sities. In 1949 he was that organization s dele-
gate to a conference on Indian-American affairs in
New Delhi, India. In 1952 he was named a mem-
ber of the National Commission for UNESCO,
and In 1959 served as a United States delegate to
the United Nations. Under President Eisenhow-
er, Hancher was a member of the five-man com-
mittee which selected the site of the U.S. Air
Force Academy in 1954. He was named to the
Academy’s first Board of Visitors.

Shortly after his retirement he and Mrs. Hanch-
er embarked for New Delhi, India, where he was
to serve as an educational consultant for the Ford
Foundation. On March 30, 1965, after serving
from the previous August, he suffered a severe
heart attack, the second iIn nine years, and died
that same day. His body was returned to lowa

City for burial.



Threshold to the Future 1964-1970

Howard R. Bowen, then President of Grinnell
College, was elected to head the University of
lowa In 1964 and resigned in 1969 to go to Clare-
mont College in California. He had received a
Ph.D. degree from the University of lowa and
had served on the College of Commerce staff.

During his administration enrollment had in-
creased from 14,700 to 18,700. Changes iIn ad-
ministrative and teaching personnel brought the
appointment of ten deans. The caliber of students
rose steadily due to higher academic credentials
of incoming freshmen and changing standards of
admission to the various colleges. Staff and fac-
ulty salaries were increased.

New academic units established included a
School of Library Science and a School of Urban
and Regional Planning. A Jlong-range plan of

. N campus beautification became the
responsibility of a new office of campus planning.
Under this program the Fine Arts Museum, a gift
of alumni and friends, and other Fine Arts units
have been built; the University Library is being
doubled in size; and a Recreational Sports Build-
iIng was erected near the Stadium. A new College
of Dentistry Building, a new College of Nursing

127
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home» a Basic Science Building, and the College
of Medicine Library are under construction on the
west campus. A new footbridge across the lowa
River will connect the new Music Building and
Hancher Auditorium with the east campus.

Willard L. Boyd, Executive Vice President,
succeeded Howard R. Bowen in 1969. Under his
administration student enrollment continues to
grow— 20,604 in the fall of 1970. President Boyd
Inherited the student unrest begun earlier, mostly
In protest to the Vietnam W ar and the killing of
four Kent State students. Attempts to hinder the
R.O.T.C. program, to halt campus recruiting by
certain agencies, and to protest authority by
smashing downtown store windows were methods
used by a minority of students to express their
opposition. By the fall of 1970 campus unrest, for
the most part, seems to have quieted down.

W hat of the future? Predictions are that stu-

dent enrollment will level off;, the need for addi-
tional housing will be curtailed; enrollment in the
College of Medicine will iIncrease to meet the

need for more doctors in lowa; and the University
will continue to emphasize leadership in the hu-
manities and the professions.

W ith a fine student body, able administrators
and a distinguished faculty working together in
an efficient plant located in a beautiful setting the
Liniversity of lowa will continue to serve the state,
the nation, and the world.
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